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CORPORATE 
Information

CORPORATE OFFICE
No. 8, Church Street, St. George’s, Grenada, W.I.
Tel: (473) 440-2111
Fax: (473) 440-6600
Swift Address: GROAGDGD
Email: info@grenadaco-opbank.com
Website: www.grenadaco-opbank.com
Facebook: GrenadaCoopBank
IG: grenadaco_opbank
Twitter: GdaCo_opBank
Whatsapp: 457-COOP (2667)

DIRECTORS
Darryl Brathwaite, Acc. Dir.

Lisa Taylor, B.A. (Hons.), LL.B (Hons.), Acc. Dir.

Larry Lawrence, MBA, Acc. Dir.

Claudia Francis, CA,FCA, CPA, CMA, ACIS/ACG Acc. Dir.

Samantha Hossle, BSc, Acc. Dir.

Dr. Anthony Andall, BSc, MSc, PhD, Acc. Dir.

Alfred Logie, Lic., Acc. Dir.

Benedict Brathwaite, BSc, FCCA, Acc. Dir.

Marlon Joseph, BSc., MSc., CGA, Acc. Dir.

CORPORATE SECRETARY
Tanya K. Lambert, LL.B, L.E.C, LL.M

AUDITORS
Messrs. BDO Eastern Caribbean
Kingstown Park
Kingstown
St. Vincent

SOLICITORS
Messrs. Lewis & Renwick
Veritas Legal
Diaz, Reus & Targ, LLP

LOCATIONS
ST. GEORGE’S
#14 Church Street, St. George’s
Tel: (473) 440-2111

SPICELAND MALL
Morne Rouge, St. George
Tel: (473) 440-2111

GRENVILLE
Victoria Street, Grenville, St. Andrew
Tel: (473) 440-2111

SAUTEURS
Main Street, Sauteurs, St. Patrick
Tel: (473) 440-2111

CARRIACOU
Main Street, Hillsborough
Tel: (473) 440-2111
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CORRESPONDENT
BANKING RELATIONSHIPS
CAD CURRENCY:
BANK: Bank of Montreal
BANK’S ADDRESS: The International Branch,
Toronto, Canada
SWIFT ADDRESS: BOFMCAT2
TRANSIT #:31442 001

ECD CURRENCY:
BANK: St. Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla National Bank
BANK’S ADDRESS: P.O. Box 343,
Basseterre, St. Kitts, W.I.
SWIFT ADDRESS: KNANKNSK

GBP/ EUR CURRENCY:
BANK: Crown Agents Bank
BANK’S ADDRESS: St. Nicholas House,
St. Nicholas Road, Sutton, Surrey SM1 1EL, UK
SWIFT ADDRESS: CRASGB2L
SORT CODE: 608368
IBAN: GB17CRAS60836833025401
IBAN: GB50CRAS6083683302500

USD CURRENCY:
BANK: Bank of America
BANK’S ADDRESS: Miami, FL
SWIFT ADDRESS: BOFAUS3M
ABA #:026009593

BANK: Crown Agents Bank
BANK’S ADDRESS: St. Nicholas House,
St. Nicholas Road, Sutton, Surrey SM1 1EL, UK
SWIFT ADDRESS: CRASGB2L
SORT CODE: 608368
IBAN: GB66CRAS60836833025101

TTD CURRENCY:
BANK: Royal Bank of Trinidad & Tobago
BANK’S ADDRESS: P.O. Box 287,
3B Chancery Lane, Port of Spain,
Trinidad & Tobago
SWIFT ADDRESS: RBTTTTPX

BBD CURRENCY:
BANK: Republic Bank (Barbados) Limited
BANK’S ADDRESS: No.1 Broad Street,
Bridgetown, Barbados
SWIFT ADDRESS: BNBABBBB

ECCU Electronic Funds Transfer
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited
SWIFT ADDRESS: GROAGDGD
ROUTING #: 000000233

ASSOCIATIONS
Caribbean Association of Banks
Grenada Bankers Association
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With Grenadian pride, we improve 
the lives of our customers through 
the provision of high quality financial 
services, while ensuring a fair return 
to our shareholders and contributing 
to the well-being of the citizens 
where we operate.

MISSION 
Statement
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NOTICE OF 
ANNUAL 
MEETING OF
Shareholders

Notice is hereby given that the Ninety-Second Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders of Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited will be held 
at The Grenada Trade Centre Annex, Morne Rouge, Grand Anse, 
St. George, on Thursday January 30, 2025 at 4:45 p.m.

AGENDA 
1.	 To receive the audited financial statements for the year 

ended September 30th, 2024.

2.	 To announce the dividend for the year ended September 
30th, 2024.

3.	 To elect Directors.

4.	 To appoint Auditors for the ensuing year.

5.	 To authorize Directors to fix the remuneration of the Auditors.

6.	 To discuss any other business that may be given consideration 
at an Annual Meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors,

…………………………………………
Tanya K. Lambert
CORPORATE SECRETARY 
DECEMBER 31, 2024
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NOTICE TO
Shareholders

RE: ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
THURSDAY JANUARY 30, 2025

ZOOM DETAILS
Shareholders are advised that the Ninety-Second Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting will be held in the form of a hybrid meeting - both virtually 
via the Zoom platform and in person at The Grenada Trade Centre 
Annex, Morne Rouge, Grand Anse, St. George. 

Topic:  Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 

Time:  Thursday January 30, 2025 at 4:45 p.m.

Register in advance for the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting:

https://us06web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZcld-2urjsiGtRSIskNBGyQpc58Tj2mcGST

After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing 
information about joining the meeting.

SCAN ME

https://us06web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZcld-2urjsiGtRSIskNBGyQpc58Tj2mcGST
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This Information Circular provides a background to Agenda Item no. 4 of the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to 
be held on January 30, 2025, at 4:45 p.m. at The Grenada Trade Centre Annex, Morne Rouge, St. George, wherein 
the Board of Directors will recommend that retiring Auditor BDO Chartered Accountant and Advisors being 
ineligible for re-appointment, be replaced by PKF Accountants & Business Advisers. 

1.	 Sub-section 60 (2) of the Banking Act No. 20 of 2015 of the laws of Grenada, as amended states, “An external 
auditor may not serve for more than nine consecutive years, however, the lead and concurring audit partner 
shall be changed every six years.”

2.	 BDO Chartered Accountant and Advisors have been the Bank’s Auditors for nine (9) years. Therefore, they 
are ineligible for re-appointment.

3.	 Requests for Proposals: Consequently, the Board of Directors through the Audit Committee requested 
proposals from five (5) eligible audit firms to provide external audit service to Grenada Co-operative Bank 
Limited (“the Bank”) for the 2025 financial year. Proposals were received from three (3) audit firms, Grant 
Thornton, Deloitte & Touche, PKF Accountants & Business Advisers.

4.	 Evaluation Criteria: The proposals received were then evaluated by a Committee of Executive Managers on 
the following criteria: cost, relevant experience, staff capabilities with information technology audit expertise.

5.	 Evaluation Process: The assessment and findings of the Committee were submitted to the Audit Committee 
of the Board of Directors for further deliberations and recommendations to the full Board of Directors.

6.	 Recommendation: The Audit firm PKF Accountants & Business Advisers is recommended to be the Bank’s 
external auditor for the 2025 financial year. 

PKF Accountants & Business Advisers has been operating in Grenada since the early 1940’s. From the beginning 
of 2008 the firm has been the only major accounting entity on the island and has developed expertise in providing 
a wide range of financial services.

PKF Accountants & Business Advisers client base includes: First National Bank of St. Lucia Limited, TDC Financial 
Services Limited, Ariza Credit Union and Dominica Electricity Services Limited. 

.........................................
Darryl Brathwaite, Acc. Dir.
CHAIRMAN

APPOINTMENT OF 
External Auditor
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DARRYL BRATHWAITE
Acc. Dir

Chairman

LISA TAYLOR
B.A. (Hons.), LL.B (Hons.), Acc. Dir

Deputy Chairman

LARRY LAWRENCE
MBA, Acc. Dir

Managing Director

CLAUDIA FRANCIS
CA,FCA, CPA, CMA, ACIS/ACG Acc. Dir

Director

ALFRED LOGIE
Lic., Acc. Dir

Director

SAMANTHA HOSSLE
BSc, Acc., Dir

Director

BENEDICT BRATHWAITE
BSc., FCCA, Acc. Dir

Director

DR. ANTHONY ANDALL
BSc, MSc, PhD, Acc. Dir

Director

MARLON JOSEPH
BSc., MSc., CGA, Acc. Dir.

Director

BOARD OF 
Directors
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I am pleased and honoured to report another 
successful year in the Bank’s history. It is evident 
that our journey has been driven by our resolute 
commitment to our Vision and Mission. It is this 
commitment that has allowed the Bank to achieve 
its largest after-tax profits on record of $32.4 million, 
which marks a 48% increase from the $21.9 million 
reported in 2023. 

As we advance in an increasingly digital era, the Bank 
holds steadfast to its vision as is evidenced in the 
prioritization of its digital transformation journey; 
an exercise that is expected to bear fruit in the short 
and medium term. This transformation is focused 
on enhancing customer experience while leveraging 
operational efficiencies.

In May of this year, we were proud to witness the 
launch of the Bank’s Micro, Small and Medium-sized 
(MSME) Unit and Newsletter, which is testament 
to the Bank’s commitment to providing banking 
solutions to Grenadians from all walks of life. The 
MSME Unit comprises a qualified and experienced 
team and the Bank has invested in the revision 
of its policies and procedures, to better serve the 
nuanced needs of MSMEs. Additionally, the Bank 
has entered into agreements with a cross section of 
professional agencies, to provide expert support to 
MSMEs in the areas of finance, accounting, business 

CHAIRMAN’S 
Review 

planning and marketing, under specialized terms. 
We are confident that the MSME Unit will continue 
to impact lives, and bring the Bank one step closer 
to achieving its mission.

The Bank’s loan portfolio experienced strong growth 
in 2024, reflecting robust demand across key sectors. 
This growth builds on the positive momentum from 
previous years, driven by steady investment and 
consumer confidence in the financial sector despite 
challenges such as the increased cost of living.

Additionally, the Bank’s Non-Performing Loans (NPL) 
Ratio declined to 0.8% as at September 30, 2024, 
down from 1.04% in 2023, reflecting the continued 
strength of our credit risk management strategies.
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THE ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
Grenada’s economy is projected to grow by 3.9% in 

2024, a decline over the 4.4% in 2023. This growth is 

bolstered by continued strong tourism activity and 

surges in Citizenship- By-Investment (CBI) revenues.  

Notwithstanding, the economic impact of Hurricane 

Beryl, with damages estimated at $218 million or 

16.5% of Grenada’s GDP, is expected to send further 

economic shocks as recovery remains imminent.

While the global economy shows signs of stabilization 

for the first time in three years, global inflation is 

expected at 3.5% in 2024 and 2.9% in 2025. Many 

central banks, as a result, are expected to

remain cautious in lowering policy interest rates as 

they remain vigilant and responsive.  Furthermore, 

natural disasters related to climate change, ongoing 

geopolitical tensions and volatile commodity prices, 

present formidable challenges to achieving a 

consistent path toward sustained recovery (World 

Bank, 2024).

Closer to home, the Eastern Caribbean Currency 

Union (ECCU) economic growth is projected at 4.8% 

in 2024 and is expected to decelerate further toward 

pre-pandemic averages over the medium-term. 

Inflation is projected to moderate gradually in line 

with international trends and stabilize in 2026.  (IMF 

2024 Article IV Mission Consultation on Common 

Policies of Member Countries of the ECCU)

The IMF 2024 Article IV Mission to Grenada noted a 

projected deceleration in Grenada’s economy in the 

coming years commencing in 2024. This expectation 

is being fueled by the anticipated normalization of CBI 

revenues, capacity constraints outweighing tourism 

growth, along with other downside risks such as 

slowdown in key tourist source markets and global 

commodity price volatility. Careful management 

of public finances therefore becomes critical to 

maintaining fiscal stability.

In 2025, the local banking sector is likely to witness

notable growth in loan activity as businesses and 

consumers adapt to ongoing inflationary pressures 

and the rising cost of living. Nevertheless, it is 

projected that the growth in deposits will continue 

to surpass that of loans and advances, consistent 

with previous trends as consumers exhibit caution 

in their financial decisions.

THE BANKING & FINANCIAL SERVICES 
ENVIRONMENT
As Grenada’s financial landscape continues to evolve, 

the Bank has seen notable improvements in its asset 

base and profitability. However, rising operational 

costs and inflationary pressures from increased 

interest rates have impacted consumers. 

The banking sector continues to experience excess 

liquidity, with deposits rising by 9.0% in 2024, which 

is a more significant increase compared to the 5.9% 

growth in 2023. Loans & Advances grew at a slower 

rate, with a 9.1% rise in 2024, up from the 8.5% 

increase in the previous period. The loans to deposits 

ratio moved slightly from 51.0% in June 2023 to 51.1% 

in June 2024, which indicates a continued but stable 

expansion in loan activity relative to deposits. 
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COMPARISON OF BANKING SECTOR DEPOSITS & 
LOANS (EC$M)

Indicator Jun 2023 Jun 2024 % Change

Deposits 4,029 4,392 9.0

Loans & Advances 2,056 2,243 9.1

Loans to Deposit Ratio (%) 51.0 51.1 0.1

Table 1. Shows Sector Loans and Deposits for 2023 and 2024
(Source: Eastern Caribbean Central Bank)

THE BANK’S PERFORMANCE
The Bank’s exceptional performance in 2024 reflects the 

Bank’s ability to adapt and respond to an evolving local and 

global economic environment. The Bank has now recorded 

its eleventh (11th) consecutive year of steady profitability, 

marking another historic achievement.

In 2024, after-tax profits soared to $32.4 million, compared 

to $21.9 million in 2023. This 48% increase was driven by 

the significant growth in both investment income and other 

operating income. 

The Bank’s Non-Performing Loans (NPL) ratio has further 

improved, decreasing to 0.8% as at September 30, 2024, 

compared to 1.04% in September 2023. This reduction 

demonstrates the Bank’s continued focus on maintaining 

high asset quality through effective credit risk management 

and the containment of loan delinquency. The primary 

contributor to this improvement was the growth in gross 

loans by $130 million, further reinforcing the strength of our 

credit portfolio. The Bank remains committed to prioritizing 

asset quality in the coming year.

As of September 30, 2024, the Bank’s total 

assets realized remarkable growth, rising by 

$674 million, or 28.7%, from $2.22 billion in 

2023 to $2.86 billion. The most significant dollar 

value growth was seen in investment securities, 

which grew by 65.3%, while loans and advances 

to customers increased by 18.4%. Other assets 

and prepayments also saw a decrease of 

5.3%. In contrast, cash and cash equivalents 

increased by 14.1%, reflecting a reallocation 

of resources to more profitable areas.

The soundness of the Bank’s capital continues to 

be strengthened as demonstrated by a Capital 

Adequacy Ratio of 13.4% as of September 30, 

2024, (2023: 11.7%), which remained within 

regulatory requirements of no less than 10%.

The Bank’s non-financial metrics continue to 

underscore a high level of public trust in our 

services. According to the annual independent 

Household Omnibus Survey conducted by 

Jude Bernard & Associates, the Bank remains 

number one within  the commercial banking 

sector with respect to the level of patronage 

enjoyed from households at 49.5% (2023: 

49.3%); and is the main banking institution 

for household customers. At the same time 

our Customer Satisfaction Index (CSI) is among 

the highest for commercial banks at 4.3 or 86% 

(2023: 4.2 or 85%).

The audit of our Customer Service Charter by 

PKF Accountants & Business Advisors affirms 

Customer Satisfaction ratings above our 70% 

benchmark, standing at 71% in 2024 (2023: 

73%).
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To our valued customers and shareholders, I express 

my deepest gratitude for your continued trust and 

support of the Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited. 

Your loyalty remains the foundation of our success.

CONCLUSION
As we look ahead, I remain confident that the Grenada 

Co-operative Bank Limited will continue to leverage 

its resources, overcome its challenges and capitalize 

on new opportunities in pursuit of its vision.

.........................................

Darryl Brathwaite, Acc. Dir.

CHAIRMAN

December 31, 2024

DIVIDENDS
Given the Bank’s strong financial performance and 

its successful implementation of the Basel II/III 

Capital Standards, the Board of Directors is pleased 

to announce the approval of a dividend payout of 

fifty cents ($0.50) per share for 2024. This reflects 

a balanced commitment to both shareholder value 

and prudent capital management.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
 I would like to extend my deepest appreciation to my 

fellow Directors for their unwavering commitment, 

foresight, and expertise in overseeing the affairs of 

the Bank. 

I commend the Management and Staff for their 

outstanding dedication and professionalism 

throughout this outstanding financial year. Your 

hard work and commitment were critical in achieving 

an exceptional performance and in surpassing our 

strategic objectives.
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BOARD MEETINGS
The Board’s duties and responsibilities 
are defined by the Companies Act and the 
Bank’s By-laws, which highlights the key 
responsibilities such as, inter alia, governance 
and oversight, strategic guidance, financial 
oversight and risk management with respect 
to:

	� Strategic Planning and Execution  

	� Identification and Management of Risks

	� Management Succession Planning & 
Performance Management

	� Capital Management

	� Culture and Conduct

	� Communications & Public Disclosures 

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE 
Statement

During the 2024 financial year, the Board of Directors  (“the Board”) continued its decision-
making and oversight duties through formulation, review and implementation of strategic, 
governance and operational policies, and the review of management decisions and assessment 
of adequacy of systems and controls, in compliance with the Companies Act, as amended, 
Banking Act, as amended, the Securities Act 2011 of the laws of Grenada and the ECCB’s 
Prudential Guidelines on Corporate Governance (“ECCB’s Guidelines”).

Board meetings serve as the formal platform for decision-making 
and oversight by the Board, and deliberation on the Bank’s 
performance, plans and policies between Directors and Executive 
Management.  

During 2024, twenty (20) (2023: 21) meetings were convened. 
A participation rate of 96% (2023: 96%) was achieved, as 
represented in the hereunder chart.

Figure 1. Showing Directors Attendance Rate for 2024 and 2023 
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BOARD SIZE AND COMPOSITION
The Bank is committed to ensuring that the size and composition of its Board advances effective oversight 
and decision making. Therefore, the Bank continues to maintain a balanced and fit-for-purpose Board with 
the right combination of skills, knowledge, competencies, experience, mindset, and diversity, attributable to 
its Board Competency Framework and Board Succession Policy. 

The recruitment and nominations process of Directors is informed by the expertise, competencies, or other 
attributes required by the Bank and the candidate’s level of compliance with the minimum criteria of the Fit 
and Proper Policy, as vacancies become available.

Currently, the Bank has on its Board one (1) Executive Director and eight (8) Non-executive Directors. The Board 
has a representation of female to male ratio of 1:2 and an average tenure of five (5) years among Directors.

DIRECTORS BY TENURE, TYPE & INDEPENDENCE

Name Commencement of Tenure Type of Director Independence

Darryl Brathwaite September 2003 Non-Executive Non-Independent

Lisa Taylor January 2010 Non-Executive Non-Independent

Larry Lawrence December 2021 Executive Non-Independent

Alfred Logie March 2013 Non-Executive Non-Independent

Samantha Hossle May 2018 Non-Executive Independent

Anthony Andall November 2019 Non-Executive Independent

Claudia Francis June 2021 Non-Executive Independent

Benedict Brathwaite September 2021 Non-Executive Independent

Marlon Joseph June 2022 Non-Executive Independent

Table 1. Showing Directors by Tenure and Type

INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS
In accordance with the Bank’s corporate governance principles and the ECCB’s Guidelines, the majority of 
Directors on the Board must be independent. An independent Director must be a non-executive director and 
free of any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with or could reasonably be perceived 
to materially interfere with the exercise of his/her unfettered and independent judgment. ECCB Guidelines 
advise that a Director who has served for longer than ten (10) years should be considered non-independent.

The Board is committed to ensuring that the majority of its members are independent in order to continue to 
exercise prudent oversight of the Bank. 

As part of the enhancements of the corporate governance framework, the Board has revised its approach to 
Board independence. These include, clear policies on Board succession and guidelines for the age of retirement 
of directors, balancing the need for director’s experience and institutional knowledge with the need for an 
appropriate level of director renewal ensuring the maintenance of a fresh perspective, as well as compliance 
with the Bank’s established independence standards.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board is supported by a robust suite of sub-committees responsible for making recommendations on 
delegated matters. To ensure continued effectiveness and efficiency in the conduct of its oversight role, the 
sub-committees of the Board were reconstituted with enhanced charters.

The Board now has four (4) standing sub-committees:

Figure 2. Showing the Sub-Committees of the Board 

Directors Audit 
Committee

Credit And 
Investment 
Committee

Governance 
And Human 
Resources 
Committee

Risk And 
Compliance 
Committee

Capital Working 
Group

MEETINGS HELD

8 26 7 4 1

MEETINGS ATTENDED

Darryl Brathwaite 1

Lisa Taylor 7 4

Benedict Brathwaite 8 26 1

Alfred Logie 24 4 1

Samantha Hossle 14 2 4

Claudia Francis 8 7 5

Marlon Joseph 8 26 4

Anthony Andall 7 7

Larry Lawrence 1

Table 2. Showing Board Committees attendance 2024

In quarter 3 there was a rotation of directors resulting in a change of committee membership for two committees, Credit and 
Investment Committee and Governance and Human Resources Committee.

Board of
Directors

Audit
Committee

Credit & Investment 
Committee

Governance & Human 
Resource Committee

Risk & Compliance 
Committee
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1.	 Audit Committee
Members:

	� Claudia Francis – Chairperson

	� Dr. Anthony Andall

	� Benedict Brathwaite

	� Marlon Joseph

Role and Responsibilities:
The Audit Committee reviews and maintains 
oversight of the following:

	� Work of the External and Internal Auditors

	� Financial Reporting Process

	� Effectiveness of the Internal Controls System 

Meetings and Engagements:
During the financial year 2024, the Audit 
Committee met eight (8) times (2023: 8) with a 
participation rate from members of 96% (2023: 
100%). During the period the Committee reviewed 
and recommended to the Board for approval the 
2024 Audited Financial Statements and Annual 
Report; approved the annual audit plan and the 
Internal Audit Department Charter, commissioned 
an external quality assurance assessment of 
the Internal Audit Department and reviewed 
the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal controls 
system via the various audit reports prepared by 
the Chief Audit Executive.

2.	 Credit & Investment Committee  
Members:

	� Benedict Brathwaite – Chairman

	� Claudia Francis

	� Alfred Logie

	� Marlon Joseph

Role and Responsibilities:
The Credit & Investment Committee maintains 
oversight responsibility for approving and/or 
reviewing the following: 

	� The Credit Risk & Investment Strategies

	� The Credit Risk Control Environment

	� Investment risks and management frameworks

	� The Credit and Investment Policies

	� Credit Applications within Delegated Limits 
and Authority

	� Sanctioning of new investments in accordance 
with the limits specified by the Board.

Meetings and Engagements:
The Credit & Investment Committee met twenty-
six (26) times (2023: 20) during the year to 
monitor the Bank’s implementation of its credit 
and investment strategies, review its Credit Risk 
Exposures and control environment, review the 
performance of the Investment portfolio and 
related risks and to adjudicate on credit facilities 
and new investments. The participation rate 
among Committee members was 97% (2023: 
93%).

3.	 Governance & Human Resource Committee
Members:

	� Dr. Anthony Andall – Chairperson

	� Samantha Hossle

	� Lisa Taylor

Role and Responsibilities:
The Governance & Human Resource Committee 
(GHRC) provides strategic guidance for developing 
governance principles and guidelines to the Bank’s 
affairs as it relates to matters of human resources, 
talent management and compensation. This is 
accomplished through the review and oversight 
of the following:

	� The Corporate Governance System

	� The Human Resources Strategy
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	� Succession Planning for the Managing Director 
and Executive Team

	� The Human Resource Policies and Procedures

	� The Performance of the Managing Director 
and the Executive Team

	� The Remuneration and Compensation Package 
to staff, in particular Executives and Directors

Meetings and Engagements:
The GHRC met seven (7) times during the year 
(2023: 4) with a participation rate of 100% 
among Directors (2023: 100%). The Committee 
met to oversee the implementation of the 
Human Resources strategic plan; recommend 
extensions of Executive appointments, review 
the performance of the Managing Director and 
the Executive Management team, consider and 
approve the succession planning schedule for key 
positions inclusive of Executive Managers and 
the Corporate Secretary, review and recommend 
for approval Governance and Human Resources 
policies, review Director compensation and 
retirement and consider the revision of the pay 
and grade structure of the Bank.

4.	 Risk & Compliance Committee
Members:

	� Lisa Taylor – Chairperson

	� Alfred Logie

	� Samantha Hossle

	� Marlon Joseph

Role and Responsibilities:
The Risk & Compliance Committee reviews and 
maintains oversight of the following:

	� The Enterprise Risk Management Framework.

	� System for monitoring compliance with laws 
and regulations in particular, Anti-Money 
Laundering & Counter Terrorism Financing 
(AMLCFT).

	� Information Technology Security Risks and 
Governance

Meetings and Engagements:
The Risk & Compliance Committee met four (4) 
times in the financial year 2024 (2023: 4) with a 
participation rate of 100% among Directors (2023: 
94%). The Committee met to monitor the integrity 
of the Bank’s risk management environment and 
the effectiveness of risk mitigating measures, 
monitor the status of the Bank’s Information 
Technology assets, review the Bank’s AMLCFT 
regime and other compliance mechanisms, 
review and recommend for approval the Anti-
Bribery Corruption and Fraud Policy.

In addition, the Board has two ad hoc Committees 
i.e. the Capital Working Group and the Nomination 
Committee.

5.	 Capital Working Group
Members:

	� Darryl Brathwaite – Chairman

	� Larry Lawrence 

	� Benedict Brathwaite 

	� Alfred Logie

The Capital Working Group has a mandate to 
review options to augment and preserve the 
Bank’s Capital and make recommendations to 
the full Board. The Committee met once for the 
financial year (2023:1) with a 100% participation 
rate (2023: 100%).

6.	 Nomination Committee
Members:

	� Dr. Anthony Andall – Chairperson

	� Lisa Taylor

	� Larry Lawrence

	� Samantha Hossle

The Nomination Committee has a mandate to 
consider potential candidates for the Board, in 
keeping with the Board Succession Policy. The 
Nomination Committee did not meet in the 2024 
financial year.
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Compensation
Director Compensation:
Directors were remunerated in accordance with the Bank’s 
policy on Director Compensation, which was reviewed 
and amended in 2024 in accordance with comparable 
indigenous banks in the region. The compensation to 
Directors has an enhanced fee structure wherein a fixed 
fee structure stipulates pre-defined fees, and a variable 
structure with pre-defined fees applied on Directors’ 
attendance at Board or sub-committee meetings.

Executive Management Compensation:
The compensation package to Executive Management 
has remained consistent over the past ten (10) years. 

Compensation 2024
$

2023
$

Executive Management
Salaries & related benefits 

$3,223,501 $2,368,468

Director’s fees and expenses $394,882 $333,527

Table 3. Showing Directors and Executive Management 
Compensation

Director Training
Directors are provided with the necessary avenues 
and support to strengthen their competencies to 
contribute to the effective oversight of the Bank. In 
2024, a combination of face-to-face and online training 
sessions were conducted. Topics included:

	� Anti-Money Laundering/Counter Terrorist Financing 

	� Investment Training – Improving investment 
knowledge and enhancing GCBL’s investment 
decision-making process

	� Risk Awareness

	� Phishing Awareness

	� Corporate Governance – Becoming a Transformational 
Bank: Revisiting Roles and Responsibilities for the 
GCBL’s Board of Directors 

Additionally, Directors attended the Bank’s annual W. 
E. Julien Lecture Series and individual Directors also 
attended the 13th annual Risk Americas Conference and 
ICAC Caribbean Conference of Accountants. 

Shareholder Engagement
The Bank held its 7th annual J.B. Renwick/Arnold 
Williamson Shareholders’ Outreach Forum on June 
27th, 2024. 

Ms. Sharon Christopher CMTT (Gold), LLB; LEC; LLM; 
Acc. Dir; FIBF presented on the topic “Shareholders’ 
Activism: Every voice counts”. Ms. Christopher 
enlightened shareholders on the common forms 
of shareholders’ activism that allow shareholders 
to influence or challenge a company’s management 
and policies, advocating for social, environmental 
and governance reform. 

The Shareholders’ Outreach Program is an annual 
forum that increasingly enlightens Shareholders 
on their roles and obligations in the governance 
of the Bank, and to be more confident in engaging 
Board Members on their stewardship at annual 
shareholder meetings. The entire presentation was 
very well received by attendees and Ms. Christopher 
was highly commended for a well-structured and 
thoroughly researched presentation.

Strategic Planning
To ensure that the Bank’s vision and goals are 
clearly defined and communicated throughout 
the organisation, the Board of Directors approved 
a revised Strategic Plan for the period 2025 – 2027.

Board Performance
The Board evaluated its performance for the 
financial year 2024, in accordance with the 
Bank’s Governance Manual, which provides for 
the utilization of the Board Evaluation Policy. The 
Board Evaluation Policy speaks to good corporate 
governance practices for assessing the performance 
and effectiveness of the Board, its sub-committees, 
and individual Directors. 
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The Board Self-Evaluation survey was conducted to elicit the responses from Directors on the following broad 
dimensions:

A. Board Performance
B. Board Conduct and Processes

C. Relationship with the Managing Director
D. Performance of the Chairman

The results of the 2024 Board Evaluation Survey, with the comparison 2023 results are shown in the hereunder 
table:

DIMENSION 2023 RESULTS 2024 RESULTS COMMENTS ON 2024 RESULTS

A. Board performance 86% 96% The Board Performance was rated as above 
expectations. Feedback provided was specific in 
relation to continued improvement in the strategic 
planning process and for further oversight by 
the Board on strategic matters. The Board duly 
performed its responsibility in relation to risk 
management and the clear lines of responsibility 
between Management and the Board continue to 
be a work in progress with improvements needed.

B. Board conduct and processes 83% 97% Directors rated Board Conduct and Processes as 
above expectations and highlighted that meeting 
management can be improved by optimizing 
meeting structure.  

C. Relationship with Managing 
Director 

79% 89% The performance was rated as having met 
expectations. The Board’s relationship with the 
Managing Director is healthy. However, to enhance 
continued improvement of this relationship, it 
would require frank engagement and purposive 
communication and planning. 

D. Chairman’s Feedback 80% 80% Board members rated the performance here as 
having met expectations. Overall, Directors were 
generally satisfied with the performance of the 
Chairman.

Table 3. Showing the 2024 Board Evaluation Survey Results
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Directors’ Interests
The table below shows the shareholdings of Directors as at September 30, 2024 with comparisons to the 
previous year.

Director Title No. of Shares 2024 No. of Shares 2023 Change

Darryl Brathwaite Chairman 3,857 3,857

Lisa Taylor Deputy Chairman 2,000 2,000

Larry Lawrence Managing Director 5,005 621 800%

Anthony Andall Director 1,000 1,000

Alfred Logie Director 2,000 2,000

Samantha Hossle Director 1,000 1,000

Claudia Francis Director 1,000 1,000

Benedict Brathwaite Director 1,000 1,000

Marlon Joseph Director 1,000 1,000

Table 4. Showing the Shareholdings of Directors for the FY 2024

Restrictions on Share Dealings by Directors 
The Directors and Senior Managers are subject to the 
Securities Act No. 23 of 2001 restrictions on applying 
for, acquiring, and disposing of securities in, or other 
relevant financial products of the Bank; or encouraging 
another person to do so if they are in possession of 
inside information. 

Directors are bound by the Bank’s Trading Window 
Policy viz “Bank Directors, Senior Management and 
Staff of the Bank shall only trade in the shares of the 
Company ten (10) days after the release of information 
(i.e. financial performance, share issues, mergers 
and acquisitions etc.) to the public and up to 30 days 
thereafter.”

Directors are not allowed to trade in the shares of the 
Bank outside of the trading window outlined in the 
Bank’s policies and without submitting prior written 
expression of interest to the Corporate Secretary.

The Code of Conduct
The Bank’s Code of Conduct (the Code) sets out 
Employees and Directors’ obligations in meeting 
the Bank’s commitment to ethical, moral, and legal 
standards.  It provides a positive guide to Employees and 
Directors in their personal and professional activities 
by enforcing a minimum level of acceptable behavior. 

Specifically, the Code requires Directors and Officers to 
act with honesty, integrity, and openness to promote 
the objectives and values of the Bank and protect the 
assets of the Bank against loss, theft, and misuse. The 
Code comprehensively addresses issues of conflict 
of interest whether actual or potential. It further 
provides guidance to the Directors and Officers of 
the Bank regarding disclosing and managing conflicts 
of interest.

Fraud Policy 
This policy was reviewed and approved by the 
Board of Directors in 2024. The Policy manages the 
risks associated with bribery, corruption and fraud 
within all facets of the Bank’s operations. Further, 
the policy is in place to ensure that Management 
takes appropriate corrective action when failures are 
identified. Additionally, the policy provides guidance 
on the restrictions to be applied on the acceptance 
of gifts, hospitality, rewards, benefits, and incentives.

Retirement and Re-election
In accordance with By-law No. 1, one third of 
Directors or the number closest thereto (other than 
the Managing Director) must retire at each Annual 
General Meeting.
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The retiring Directors are Claudia Francis, Benedict 
Brathwaite and Samantha Hossle who, being fit and 
proper and eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Profiles of Directors for re-election
Ms. Claudia Francis, CA,FCA, CPA, CMA, ACIS/ACG, Acc. Dir.
Ms. Francis is a Chartered Accountant with a wealth 
of experience from a long career in accounting, 
auditing and taxation. Ms. Francis holds professional 
memberships in the Institutes of Chartered Accountants 
of Barbados, and the Eastern Caribbean; Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada; Chartered 
Governance Institute of Canada; and the Institute of 
Internal Auditors. 

Along with her extensive audit experience in the 
financial, insurance and utility sectors, Ms. Francis 
brings to the Board of Directors expertise in risk 
management internal controls, finance, corporate 
governance and strategic planning. 

Mr. Benedict Brathwaite, BSc., FCCA, Acc. Dir.
Mr. Benedict Brathwaite is a Chartered Accountant 
and an Accredited Director with a wealth of experience 
from a long career in accounting, auditing, finance 
management and corporate governance. Mr. 
Brathwaite has served as a director and at the senior 
level of several institutions in Grenada, which includes 
Grenada Electricity Services Ltd., the National Insurance 
Board. and the Grenada Development Bank.  

Mrs. Samantha Hossle, B. Sc., Acc. Dir.
A Grenadian and proud graduate of the University 
of the West Indies (UWI), Mrs. Hossle holds two (2) 
Bachelor of Science degrees, Electrical and Computer 
Engineering, majoring in Computer Systems, and 
Agribusiness and Management Studies.

For over twenty-five (25) years, Mrs. Hossle has worked 
in the Information Systems and Electrical Engineering 
fields, from hardware installation and configuration, 
networking, database solutions and Geographic 
Information Systems (GIS) to data analytics and remote 
monitoring and control of Distribution Automation 
devices. Mrs. Hossle brings excellent analytical skills 
and a history of innovation to the Board.

Appointment of Auditors
In compliance with the requirements of the Banking 
Act the term of the current external auditors, 
Messrs. BDO Chartered Accountants ended with the 
completion of the 2024 audit. The Bank thanks the 
retiring Auditors, Messrs BDO Chartered Accountants 
for their nine (9) years of services to the Bank.

The Bank requires an independent external auditor 
to provide shareholders with assurance that the 
financial reports are true, fair and reflect the Bank’s 
financial position. As a result, during the fiscal year 
2024, the Audit Committee solicited proposals from 
audit firms for the auditing of the financial statements 
of the Bank. 

The recommended external auditors for approval 
by the Bank’s shareholders for the fiscal year 2025 
is PKF Accountants and Business Advisers Grenada.

The Corporate Governance Statement is accurate 
and up to date as at September 30, 2024.

..............................................
Tanya K. Lambert, LL.B, L.E.C., LL.M 
CORPORATE SECRETARY

December 31, 2024
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 
Team

WILLVORN GRAINGER
CRU, Dip., MA

Chief Experience Officer

LARRY LAWRENCE
MBA, Acc. Dir

Managing Director

W. GARY SAYERS
BBA, Dip. MBA

Executive Manager, Sales & 
Service

ALLANA JOSEPH
BSc, CGA, CPA, AICB, AML/CA

Executive Manager,
Compliance

JENNIFER ROBERTSON
Dip. Banking, AICB, CIRM, CRU, MBA, 

MCIBS, Exec. Dip. Banking

Executive Manager,
Risk

DR. AARON LOGIE
FCCA, MBA, DBA

Executive Manager,
Finance and Wealth Management 

and Financial Services

SHALLENE GOODING
FCCA

Chief Audit Executive

NICOLA PHILIP
MCIBS, BSc, CCP, MBA

Executive Manager,
Human Resources

FLOYD DOWDEN
AICB, AML/CA, MBA-IB, CICRA, CBCS

Executive Manager,
Operations & Administration

TANYA K. LAMBERT
LL.B, L.E.C, LL.M

Corporate Secretary/Executive 
Manager Legal

GARVIN BAPTISTE
BSc., CISSP, CRISC, CCISO

Executive Manager,
 Information Technology

MICHELLE NOEL-GIBBS
BBA (Hons), CCRA

Officer-in-Charge,
Credit Administration
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1.	 Introduction
The fiscal year ending September 30, 2024, 
marked a period of robust growth and 
notable strategic advancements for our Bank. 
We successfully reinforced our operational 
framework, creating greater value for both 
shareholders and customers. It is my pleasure to 
provide an overview of our financial performance 
for 2024, emphasizing key growth drivers, 
achievements, and areas where we will focus 
on further improvements.

MANAGING
DIRECTOR’S
Discussion & Analysis

2.	 Economic and Market Overview
The fiscal year unfolded in a dynamic economic 
environment, presenting both opportunities and 
challenges. Key macroeconomic factors such as 
moderate GDP growth, fluctuating but for the 
most part favourable global interest rates, and 
persistent inflationary pressures shaped the 
banking sector’s landscape. Domestically, the 
central bank maintained a steady monetary policy, 
leaving lending and deposit rates unchanged. 
Meanwhile, global geopolitical tensions and 
market volatility influenced trade flows, currency 
stability, and investment patterns. Despite these 
headwinds, we stayed committed to delivering 
value through adaptive strategies, robust 
risk management, and a continued focus on 
advancing our digital transformation initiatives.
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3.	 Statement of Profit or Loss Review
The Bank delivered satisfactory financial results this year, achieving pointed growth in core revenue streams. 
Key highlights of our financial performance include:

	� Net Profit: We achieved a record net profit of $32.4 million, marking a 48% increase from last year’s $21.9 
million. This performance was driven by strong revenue growth and disciplined credit risk management.  
This achievement reflects the Bank’s dedication to enhancing shareholder value.

	� Earnings per Share (EPS): Profits growth drove a substantial increase in earnings per share, rising from 
$2.88 in 2023 to $4.27 in 2024—a 48% increase.

	� Return on Assets (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE): 

	 These key metrics highlight the Bank’s efficiency and profitability:

	� ROA improved to 1.1% in 2024, up from 1.0% in 2023, a somewhat marginal movement.

ROE increased to 18% in 2024, compared to 17% in 2023, a rather sedate performance year on year. 
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	� Net Interest Income: Net interest income grew by 26.5%, rising from $31.6 million in 2023 to $39.9 million 
in 2024. This increase was primarily driven by a 34.8% surge in interest income, which climbed from $42.6 
million in 2023 to $57.5 million in 2024, reflecting effective asset-liability management that optimized 
returns despite competitive pressures. Interest expense also increased by 58.6%, from $11.1 million to 
$17.6 million, largely due to higher borrowing costs and greater reliance on customer deposits.

	� Other Operating Income: Other operating income experienced considerable growth, increasing by 63.8% 
from $61.7 million in 2023 to $101.1 million in 2024. This rise underscores the success of our diversification 
efforts, driven by higher investment income from improved yields and an expanding portfolio, alongside 
growth in non-interest income from service fees, commissions, and other revenue streams

	� Operating Expenses: Operating expenses increased by 47%, rising from $59.5 million in 2023 to $84.2 
million in 2024. This growth was primarily driven by higher staff costs, increased card-related expenses, 
and other general administrative expenditures. Despite this rise, our efficiency ratio improved to 60%, 
highlighting our continued commitment to operational efficiency.
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4.	 Statement of Financial Position Review
Assets
The Bank’s total assets grew by 28.7% in 2024, 
reaching $2.86 billion compared to $2.22 billion in 
2023. This expansion was driven by growth across 
key areas:

	� Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash 
equivalents increased to $670.9 million, up 
from $588.3 million in 2023, supported by a 
growing deposit base. A large portion of this 
cash was strategically allocated to interest-
earning instruments to enhance returns.

	� Loans and Advances to Customers: Loans and 
advances grew by 18.4%, rising from $856.8 
million to $1.01 billion, reflecting a strengthened 
lending strategy focused on risk management 
and expansion into high-growth segments. Key 
contributions came from:

	� Retail Lending: Strong demand for retail 
loans, particularly in home mortgages and 
personal finance, drove a $67.4 million 
increase in the retail portfolio, representing 
a 16% growth. This was fuelled by rising 
consumer confidence, favourable interest 
rates, and improved credit evaluation 
processes.

	� Commercial and Corporate Lending: This 
portfolio grew by $96.0 million, or 21%, 
as we continued to support businesses, 
recognizing their critical role in driving 
economic growth and job creation. Key 
sectors that experienced growth included 
utilities, construction and land development, 
real estate, entertainment and recreation, 
as well as various other service industries.  

	� Non-Performing Loans

Over the course of the year, our non-performing 
loan portfolio decreased to $8.1 million from 
$9.2 million in 2023. This reduction, combined 
with the growth in the overall loan portfolio, 
led to a decrease in the non-performing loan 
ratio from 1.04% in 2023 to 0.8% in 2024, well 
below the ECCB’s prudential benchmark of 5%.

	� Investment Securities: 

Investment securities grew by 65%, reaching 
$1.03 billion in 2024, up from $625 million 
in 2023. This growth supports our asset 
diversification strategy, striking a balance 
between liquidity and enhanced returns on 
lower-risk assets. The portfolio consists of 
a combination of government bonds, high-
grade corporate bonds, and other short-term 
securities. Key trends include:

Operating Expenses
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	� Government Securities: Government 
bonds remain a primary component of our 
investment portfolio due to their stability 
and favourable risk-adjusted returns.

	� Other Securities: We strategically expanded 
our holdings in fixed deposits, investment-
grade corporate bonds, alternatives, and 
cash equivalents, aiming to achieve better 
yields within a controlled risk framework 
while supporting liquidity management. 

Our investment strategy remains focused on 
capital preservation and generating stable 
income. This year, the returns from our investment 
securities portfolio were favourable, reflecting the 
effectiveness of this approach.

Liabilities
Total liabilities increased by 27.8%, rising from 
$2.10 billion in 2023 to $2.68 billion in 2024, with 
customer deposits being the primary contributor.

Customer Deposits: Deposits from customers, our 
main source of funding, grew by 28.5%, reaching 
$2.61 billion. This growth reflects strong customer 
confidence and our success in expanding our 
deposit base across both retail and institutional 
clients. Key drivers of this growth include:

	� Savings and Term Deposits: Savings deposits 
grew by 6%, while term deposits saw a 2% 
decline, primarily due to the low interest rates 
we maintained on term deposits in response 
to excess liquidity in the market.

	� Current and Chequing Deposits: Demand 
deposits from business clients surged by 
61%, while retail chequing account deposits 
experienced a modest decline of 3%. 

Maintaining a robust deposit base is essential for 
funding our lending and investment activities while 
supporting liquidity requirements. Our loan and 
investment to deposit ratio remains within the 
targeted range, ensuring a balanced approach 
between asset growth and deposit stability.
 

Shareholders’ Equity
Shareholders’ equity moved by 43.6%, rising to 
$181.6 million in 2024 from $126.5 million in 2023. 
This growth was driven by robust earnings, which 
grew from $61.4 million to $88.4 million, along with 
additional gains in other comprehensive income, 
which rose from $14.3 million to $40.3 million.
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5.	 Capital Adequacy and Liquidity
During the year, the Eastern Caribbean Central 
Bank (ECCB) implemented Phase 1 of Basel II/III 
for capital adequacy calculations, transitioning 
from the previous Basel I framework. Basel 
II/III standards, developed by the Basel 
Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS), 
provide international guidelines to help banks 
assess their capital adequacy, ensuring they 
maintain sufficient capital to cover risks and 
absorb potential losses.

Under the ECCB’s hybrid Basel II/III approach, 
banks are required to maintain a minimum Tier 
1 ratio - capital to risk-weighted assets of 6%, 
and a total capital ratio – total qualifying capital 
(Tier 1 plus Tier 2) to risk-weighted assets – of 
8%, or a higher amount as determined by the 
ECCB. For the Bank, the minimum total capital 
ratio requirement is 10%. As of September 30, 
2024, the Bank exceeded these requirements, 
achieving a Tier 1 ratio of 9.01% and a total 
capital ratio of 13.44%.

Our liquidity ratios also improved, reflecting 
strong inflows from customer deposits and 
effective asset-liability management. We 
continue to closely monitor our capital position 
to ensure alignment with our growth strategies 
and regulatory requirements.

6.	 Asset Quality and Credit Management
Our proactive risk management practices and prudent 
lending standards have allowed us to maintain a 
strong and healthy loan portfolio. Credit quality 
remained solid, bolstered by continuous monitoring 
and timely recovery efforts. While provisions for credit 
losses increased compared to previous years—due 
to portfolio growth, macroeconomic factors, and 
a cautious management approach—overall credit 
quality remains robust. The increase in provisions 
reflects the current macroeconomic environment, 
but our credit quality continues to be strong. We have 
further strengthened our credit risk frameworks and 
remain focused on lending to sectors with favourable 
risk-return profiles.

7.	 Digital Transformation and Innovation
Digital transformation is a key focus of our strategic 
priorities. This year, we made substantial investments 
in technology and innovation, including upgrades 
to our digital banking platform and enhanced 
cybersecurity measures. These initiatives are part of 
our ongoing commitment to safeguarding customer 
data and mitigating potential cyber risks and laying the 
groundwork for enhancing the customer experience. 
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8.	 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
As part of our commitment to responsible banking, 
we have continued to invest in Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) initiatives that positively 
impact our communities and align with our core 
values. Our CSR strategy focuses on five main 
pillars: education, health, environment, culture 
and performing arts, and sports.

This year, we exceeded our $500,000 target, 
raising $584,392 to support the Carlton Home 
Rehabilitation Centre for Substance Abusers, 
thanks to the success of the Pump It Up Family 
Fun Walk held in Carriacou and Grenada. We 
also partnered with The University of the West 
Indies (UWI) Global Campus Grenada to expand 
opportunities for individuals pursuing higher 
education. Additionally, the financial year saw the 
launch of our dedicated Micro, Small, and Medium-
sized Enterprises (MSME) unit, which introduced an 
enhanced and comprehensive suite of solutions 
to better support this vital sector.

9.	 Outlook and Strategic Priorities
Looking ahead, we remain committed to pursuing 
growth opportunities, with a particular focus 
on digital banking and enhancing customer 
experience. Our continued investment in 
innovation and risk management will be key 
drivers of our strategy as we navigate evolving 
economic and regulatory landscapes. With a strong 
balance sheet and diverse income streams, we are 
well-positioned to achieve sustainable growth in 
the years ahead.

Our priorities for the upcoming year include 
advancing our digital capabilities and optimizing 
internal processes to improve operational 
efficiency, reducing service delivery times, and 
elevating our customer satisfaction and overall 
effectiveness.

In conclusion, I would like to express my sincere 
gratitude to the Board of Directors, our employees, 
customers, and shareholders for their steadfast 
support. We remain dedicated to fulfilling our 
mission as a trusted financial partner and delivering 
long-term sustained value in pursuit of our vision.

.........................................
Larry Lawrence
MANAGING DIRECTOR

December 31, 2024
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CORPORATE
SOCIAL 
Responsibility

HEALTH 
Co-op Bank held its 13th Pump it Up! Family Fun Walk 
this year, attracting approximately 4,500 participants. The 
Fun Walk is the flagship event of the Bank’s Healthier 
Lifestyles Program, which seeks to promote healthier 
choices, including physical exercise and taking a proactive 
approach to health issues. The event encourages families 
to come out for an afternoon of fun while engaging 
in physical exercise, with the hope that it will spark 
continued activity. It is also a platform for the Bank to 
disseminate and promote healthy lifestyle tips to the 
community on the road and on social media.

The second aspect of the Pump it Up! Family 
Fun Walk is support to health-related charitable 
organizations. In 2017, the Bank decided to raise 
$500,000 towards the re-establishment of the 
Carlton Home Rehabilitation Center. This year, the 
Bank surpassed that target, raising a significant 
$584,392 for the initiative. The funds will be used to 
assist with retrofitting the new facility for individuals 
battling substance abuse, addressing a critical need 
within the community.

Participants in Co-op Bank’s Pump It Up Family Fun Walk
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ENVIRONMENT
Co-op Bank also demonstrated its commitment to 
protecting the environment.  Following this year’s 
Pump It Up! Family Fun Walk, the Bank took proactive 
measures to ensure the event route was litter-free, with 
employee volunteers collecting all water bottles and 
other waste left behind by participants. The Bank then 
handed over all the discarded bottles to the Grenada 
Solid Waste Management Authority to be used in their 
recycling drive.

EDUCATION
Education remains a priority for Co-op Bank. This 
year, the Bank awarded 14 scholarships to students 
at the primary, secondary and tertiary levels under its 
Super Starter Education Investment Plan scholarship 
program – a significant financial investment in the 
future of Grenadian youth. Seven students at the 
primary level each received $1,200 scholarships, six 
students at the secondary level were each awarded 
$2,500, and one tertiary-level scholarship valued at 
$45,000 was awarded to pursue university education 
anywhere in the world. Additionally, 58 students who 
were recipients in the Bank’s scholarship program 
during the challenging COVID-19 pandemic years 
(2020-2022) continued receiving financial support 
to assist with education expenses throughout their 
primary and secondary school tenures.

Co-op Bank sponsored the prestigious A.A. La Grenade 
and T.A. Marryshow Cup awards for outstanding 
students in the Caribbean Secondary Education 
Certificate (CSEC) examinations. The Bank also 
collaborated for another year with The University of 
the West Indies Global Campus to host the Carol Bristol 

Lecture Series under the theme “Grenada’s Coming of 
Age, Our Big Push for Transformation”. The lecture was 
delivered by Governor of the ECCB, Timothy Antoine. 

SPORTS
Co-op Bank played a significant role in developing the 
sport of chess in Grenada through sponsorship of the 
inaugural National Chess Championship, which was 
held to select Grenada’s first representatives for the 
World Chess Championships in Budapest, Hungary. 
The Bank also continued to recognize the extraordinary 
achievements of Brand Ambassador Kirani James, a 
three-time Olympic medalist, with a monetary award 
for his outstanding performance over the years and 
at the 2024 Paris Olympics, where he became the first 
man to make it to the men’s 400m final four times in 
the history of the games.

Students engaged in a game of chess at the closing ceremony of 
the National Chess Competition

From left to right: Francis St. Hillaire, Marketing & Branding Officer, 
2024 EIP Scholarship winners, and Brendon Mc Gillivary, Manager 
Sales and Services, St George’s Retail Banking Unit 

Willvron Grainger, Chief Experience Officer, presenting to Kirani James, 
the Bank’s Brand Ambassador,  for his outstanding performance at the 
2024 Paris Olympics and over the years.
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In a push to revitalize the sport of basketball, the 
Bank supported the Kellon Baptiste Foundation’s one-
week training camp for young basketballers, which 
was hosted by former NBA players and coaches. 
Contributions were made toward the development 
of netball, football and cricket, and to various primary 
and secondary schools for their annual sports meets, 
fostering the growth of young athletes nationwide. 

CULTURE & THE PERFORMING ARTS
The Bank continued its partnership with Co-op Bank 
Commancheros Steel Orchestra. This year, the Junior 
Steel Orchestra took the second position in the Junior 
Panorama competition at the Children’s Carnival Frolic, 
while the Senior Steel Orchestra placed fourth at the 
National Panorama Competition.

Co-op Bank’s cultural initiatives extended to 
Carriacou, through sponsorship of the second annual 
Fundaytion, an event designed to engage children 
in the development of Soca and Calypso music and 
mas to further bolster the holistic development of 
the artform. The Bank also supported the traditional 
Maroon and Regatta festivals in Carriacou and Petite 
Martinique to help preserve Grenada’s cultural legacy.

To further enrich Grenadian culture and help with 
providing a platform to showcase and empower 
local talent, the Bank sponsored several theatrical 
productions throughout the year. These productions 
include the Spice Laugh Comedy Festival by Heritage 
Theatre Company, “Journey to Gold” by RKD Theatre 
Company, and “I Do” by La Boucan Creative Center. 

CUSTOMER SERVICE PROMISES & 
STANDARDS
Customer centricity remains Co-op Bank’s main 
strategic focus. The Bank ensures it is accountable to 
the promises and standards set to support excellent 
customer experience. As a result, the Bank conducted 
the annual audit of its Customer Service Charter, 
measuring performance against service promises. 
The Bank aims to get a 70% satisfaction rating for its 

promises to customers. This year, the Bank achieved 
a 71% rating, a noteworthy accomplishment one year 
after the acquisition of CIBC FirstCaribbean operations 
in Grenada. 

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION
On the roster for the year was the quarterly Customer 
Perception Survey, administered to assess customers’ 
views on overall service delivery and whether they are 
likely to recommend the Bank to others. 

Co-op Bank strives to ensure high customer service 
excellence by setting a Net Promoter Score (NPS) 
above the average of comparable financial institutions 
internationally. This year, the Bank recorded an NPS 
of +27, demonstrating customers’ high confidence 
and trust in the Bank.  

Customers also rated attributes such as friendliness, 
staff interest, product knowledge, and effort to meet 
their needs resulting in a commendable Customer 
Satisfaction Index (CSI) of 81%.

The Bank’s dedication to customer service excellence 
extends to staff development and training. The Bank 
continued its annual mandatory Customer Excellence 
Training for all employees, including auxiliary staff 
and security guards. The objective of this training 
is to ensure that the quality of service is consistent 
throughout the organization and that the customer 
journey is an enjoyable one. 

With a strong focus on customer excellence, the Bank 
recognizes and rewards employees who consistently 
deliver. Based on monthly, quarterly and annual 
customer feedback, the overall winner for this year’s 
Most Outstanding Employee, Customers’ Choice for 
Customer Service is Zakiya Sam.

ZAKIYA SAM
Most Outstanding Employee Customers’ 

Choice for Customer Service
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MANAGEMENT  
Team

KEISHA GREENIDGE
BSc, MSc

Senior Manager,
Risk (Credit)

SHANE REGIS
AICB, BSc

Sales & Services Manager,
Grenville Retail Banking Unit

KESTER JOSEPH
C.C.Sec., MBA, KPIP, BSP, BSc.

Strategy Manager

JACQUELINE PHILLIP
MSC, BBA, AS, CERT

Manager,
Recoveries and Collections

JAVID HOSTEN
CISM, PCIP, VCA, CDPS

Manager,
Information Security

KERI-ANN ST. LOUIS-TELESFORD
BAS, MSc

Senior Manager,
Human Resources

ERICKA HOSTEN
BSc

Manager,
Marketing & Customer Insight Unit

ALY-TERESE WILSON
MBA, BS, PMI

Project Manager

NEDGRA PAUL
BSc

Sales & Services Manager,
Spiceland Mall Retail Banking Unit

SHAWN SLINGER
BSc, CISM, VCP

Manager,
Information Systems & Technology

CARLENE PHILLIP-FRANK
Exec. Dip. Banking, BSc, MBA, BSP, PMI-ACP

Senior Manager,
Programme & Strategy

RICHARD MEDFORD
BSc, MSc

Manager,
Electronic Services & Retail Operations

BRENDON MC GILLIVARY
IM, AICB, CRU, BSc, Exec. Dip. Banking

Sales & Services Manager,
St. George's Retail Banking Unit

RACHAEL PHILIP-BETHEL
CRU

Sales & Services Manager,
Carriacou Retail Banking Unit

EBERNIE WHYTE-BEST
MBA, Chartered Banker

Manager,
Business Banking

RICHARDSON HOLDER
B.Sc. (Hons), MBA-IB, (CBCA)®, Acc. Dir - 

Audit Manager

ROGER DUNCAN
FICB

Manager,
Customer Care

ROLAND FLETCHER
AICB, MBA, CRU

Sales & Services Manager,
Sauteurs Retail Banking Unit

KEITH HOLAS

Finance Manager

MARQUEZ MC SWEEN
MBA, CRU, AMLCA, CPAML

Manager,
Compliance

CRAIG BELFON
AICB

Operations Manager

FRANCIS ST. HILLAIRE

Marketing and Branding
Officer
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In the past year, our Human Resources Department has been dedicated to fostering a dynamic 
and supportive workplace, driving both employee satisfaction and organizational growth. The 
following report outlines some of the HR Department’s activities and achievements within the 
financial year.

HUMAN
RESOURCE
Report

STAFF WELL-BEING
Well-being is not just the absence of disease or 
illness. It is a complex combination of a person’s 
physical, mental, emotional and social health 
factors. Considering this, the Bank continues 
to host various sessions to boost employee 
morale and engagement and encourage a 
healthier and more inclusive culture. During the 
financial year, employees participated in various 
sessions and discussions on topics such as self-
awareness, mental health, stress management, 
and accelerating progress by investing in women. 
These sessions were conducted by the Bank’s 
Employee Assistance Program (EAP) providers.

HR STRATEGIC INITIATIVE
The Bank commenced a pay & grade review exercise in April 
2024. The aim of the exercise is to assess the Bank’s current 
pay & grade structure against its comparators to ensure an 
equitable and competitive salary structure and framework. 
The exercise is still on-going.

GENERAL STAFF MEETING
The Annual General Staff Meeting was held under the 
theme “Together Towards Tomorrow, Transition to 
Transformation”. Employees were rewarded and recognized 
for their academic achievements, customer service delivery, 
years of service and other outstanding contributions to the 

Gary Sayers, Executive Manager, Sales and Services presenting the award for RBU 
of the year to Nedgra Paul, Manager, Sales and Services Spiceland Mall



C
o-

op
 B

an
k

35
Banking on a Bright Future

Following almost three (3) years without a Family Fun 
Day due to the Covid-19 pandemic, staff and their 
families were ecstatic to resume the much-anticipated 
event at Progress Park, St. Andrew on May 19th, 2024. 
The Family Fun Day involved fellowship, obstacle events 
and a March Past competition. Team Trailblazer was 
victorious in the overall day’s activities, while Team 
Avengers won the March Past.

growth and development of the Bank. For the second 
consecutive year, the Spiceland Mall Retail Banking 
Unit (RBU) captured the title of RBU of the Year. Mrs. 
Carlene Phillip-Frank and Dr. Aaron Logie received the 
Managing Director’s Special Awards for their significant 
contributions to the Bank’s growth and transformation, 
particularly in the FCIB acquisition.

STAFF EVENT/SOCIAL
As Grenada prepared to celebrate its Golden Jubilee 
of Independence on February 7, 2024, under the 
theme: One People, One Future, One Journey, so too 
did Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited. As the only 
indigenous bank in the country, the Bank proudly 
prepared to celebrate this momentous milestone, with 
the theme: Banking on a Bright Future: 50 Plus Years 
of Partnership Between Co-op Bank and Grenadians. 
In the spirit of patriotism, the Bank hosted two exciting 
competitions for team members: an Independence 
Calypso Competition and the Best Dressed Department.  
The events encouraged creativity, nationalism and 
team building, and the winners received attractive 
prizes.

Dr. Aaron LogieMrs. Carlene Phillip-Frank

Angelleau James one of the participants in the 50th Anniversary 
Independence Calypso Competition 

 Department of Audit at the 50th Anniversary of Independence 
Inter-Departmental Competition

Team Violet Vipers during the march past at Family Fun Day

Attendees at the Annual General Staff Meeting
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After several years of being out of competition, Co-
op Bank’s cricketers, the Gold Strikers, were thrilled 
to participate in the GCIC cricket competition, where 
they advanced to the quarterfinals.

Also, for the first time, the Bank’s football fanatics were 
happy to be part of the GCIC football tournament.

On December 6, 2023, the Bank held its annual staff 
cocktail party, A Night in Paris, at Pier 57. The night 
presented an opportunity for staff to relax and engage 
in fellowship and camaraderie while being entertained 
by our very own Co-op Bank Commancheros, local 
DJs and artistes.

STAFF RECOGNITION/RETIREMENT
During the financial year, Co-op Bank bid farewell to 
one of its employees, Ms. Hazel-Ann Wells John, after 
thirty-five (35) years of dedicated service. Ms. John, 
who exemplified efficiency, was highly knowledgeable 
and made significant contributions to the growth and 
development of the credit department.

Training and development enhance employees’ 
skills, knowledge, abilities and attitudes, building 
their capacity to deliver superior service and 
shape a more efficient, competitive, and engaged 
workforce. Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited will 
continue to strive for higher productivity and quality 
improvement, while limiting the learning curve, 
reducing turnover, and establishing and maintaining 
an effective management team.

The following Training and Development activities 
were conducted for the financial year 2023-2024:

1.	 In-house/Microsoft Teams and Zoom training

2.	 Resident external training

3.	 Certifications and qualifications

IN-HOUSE TRAINING
Training in these areas directly supports the Bank’s 
strategic goals:

	� Customer Service Excellence

	� Customer Due Diligence and Risk Rating 
Methodology

	� Risk Awareness

	� Core Competency

	� Leadership

	� First Aid

	� Sexual Harassment

	� Anti-Money Laundering/Counter Terrorism 
Financing (AML/CTF) training

	� Orientation and Induction Training for new 
members of staff

Additional in-house training sessions were 
conducted to develop employee competencies in 
their functional areas.

TRAINING
And Development

HR Team at Staff Cocktail 2023

Ms. Hazel-Ann Wells John
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RESIDENT EXTERNAL - ONLINE TRAINING 

Institution Training Recipients 

The University of the West 
Indies, St. Augustine Campus

Industrial Relations Training Human Resource Department

ReBIT Limited Effective Personal Productivity Rachael Philip-Bethel
Karrie Sandy
Ebernie Whyte-Best
Roger Duncan

Total Leadership Development 
training

Daniella Mc Sween
Craig Belfon
Cameile Charles-Cummings

BIZENIUS Business Solutions 
FZCO

ICAPP, Stress Testing and Economic 
Masterclass

Diyanna Gulston

Grenada Employers’ Federation ILO Occupational Health & Safety Dianne Joesph
Vanda Patrick-Raeburn

Arthur Lok Jack Global School of 
Business

Leading & Sustaining Culture of 
Innovation

Keri-Ann St. Louis-Telesford
Carlene Phillip-Frank
Aly-Terese Wilson
Vanda Patrick-Raeburn

Udemy Intro to Commercial Credit Analysis, 
Credit Risk and Lending

Kaiz Phillips

Mastercard Academy Mastercard Connect Overview 
training

Kendel Dowden

IIA Introduction to Engagement Process Cheressa Rennie
Gisella Thomas

Root Cause Analysis Tools and 
Techniques

Cheressa Rennie
Gisella Thomas

Internal Control Frameworks Shallene Gooding

Auditing Project Management 
Practices

Shallene Gooding
Liesha Barker
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CERTIFICATIONS/QUALIFICATIONS
These employees successfully attained qualifications and certifications in the following areas:

Institution Certificate Recipients 

Designations

Real Estate Institute of Grenada (REIC) Certified Residential Underwriter (CRU) Jenelle Antoine-Francis

Certifications

University of Cambridge Data Analytics: Transforming HR 
Strategy with Data Science

Nicola Philip

Prosci Change Management Certification 
Program

Nicola Philip

Investment Migration Council 
Education & Training

Certification in Investment Migration Tiffany Charles-Mc Gillivary
Ron Frederick

MBTI MBTI Certification Keri-Ann St. Louis-Telesford 

Certified Life Coach Institute Life Coach Certification Keri-Ann St. Louis-Telesford  

InfoSec Institue, Inc CySA+ Live Online Andre Roberts

Security + Bootcamp Calvin Williams

FIBA-FIU FIBA OFAC Sanction Certification Brendon Mc Gillivary
Sharlene Isaac-Louison

 

Brendon Mc Gillivary

Keri-Ann St. Louis-Telesford 

Sharlene Isaac-Louison

Ron FrederickCalvin Williams

Tiffany Charles-Mc Gillivary

Jenelle Antoine-Francis

Andre Roberts

Nicola Philip
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Institution Certificate Recipients 

Certificates of Completion

The University of the West Indies 
Global Campus

Business Writing & Communication I Kiwani Grant

Project Management Karyn Sylvester

Skill Soft Global Knowledge VMware vSphere: Install, Configure, 
Manage

Corey La Touche

ITIL v4 Foundations Instruction ITIL Foundation 4 certified IT Service 
Management

Ashlyn Hyacinth 

Advantage Caribbean Institute Microsoft Excel 2019 Francis St. Hillaire – Level 1
Dianne C.V. Joseph – Level 1
Tahera Mc Sween – Levels 1, 2 & 3
Karyn Sylvester – Levels 1, 2 & 3
Nicolette Harding – Level 2
Abigail Thomas – Level 2
Laurian Modeste-Mitchell – Levels 2 & 3

UNICAF University Professional Development Course – 
Human Resource Management

Nicolette Harding

CERTIFICATES OF ACHIEVEMENT/PARTICIPATION

Institution Certificate Recipients 

BIZENIUS Business Solutions FZCO ICAAP, Stress Testing & Economic 
Capital Masterclass

Diyanna Gulson
Kiwani Grant

The University of the West Indies,
St. Augustine Campus

Industrial Relations Nicola Philip
Keri-Ann St. Louis-Telesford
Vanda Patrick-Raeburn
Kristy Prime
Racquel Philip
Nicolette Harding

Jack Henry University Core Director Report Writer Cheressa Rennie
Gisella Thomas

Operational Auditing Shallene Gooding

Auditing IT Change Management Jamie St. Louis

Logical Security – Applications, 
Databases, Operating System Layers

Jamie St. Louis
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SELECTED FINANCIAL 
Statistics 2015 - 2024

LOANS & ADVANCES

0 �200,000,000 �400,000,000 �600,000,000 �800,000,000 �1,000,000,000 �1,200,000,000

2024

2015

2018

2021

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

LOANS & ADVANCES (GROSS)

Loans & advances $413,420,588 $404,328,044 $431,852,790 $498,753,716 $511,932,524 $545,654,198 $592,233,938 $643,248,811 $877,909,989 $1,014,424,142 

% Change -1.7% -2.2% 6.8% 15.5% 2.6% 6.6% 8.5% 8.6% 36.5% 15.5%

DEPOSITS (GROSS)

Deposits $692,632,948 $766,677,471 $887,906,649 $954,069,016 $1,060,169,908 $1,151,080,683 $1,276,810,288 $1,497,740,159 $2,027,630,925 $2,605,582,774 

% Change 15.9% 10.7% 15.8% 7.5% 11.1% 8.6% 10.9% 17.3% 35.4% 28.5%

Loans & advances to deposit ratio 60% 53% 49% 52% 48% 47% 46% 43% 43% 39%

PROFITS & DIVIDENDS

Net after tax profits $2,687,650 $4,384,705 $6,732,801 $7,621,439 $9,670,312 $9,628,952 $9,870,931 $2,106,155 $21,853,224 $32,441,543 

% Change 8.4% 63.1% 53.6% 13.2% 26.9% -0.4% 2.5% -78.7% 937.6% 48.5%

Dividend Per Share $0.08 $0.11 $0.15 $0.17 $0.22 $0.15 $0.15 $0.00 $0.43 $0.50

Source:  Audited Financial Statements
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

LOANS & ADVANCES (GROSS)

Loans & advances $413,420,588 $404,328,044 $431,852,790 $498,753,716 $511,932,524 $545,654,198 $592,233,938 $643,248,811 $877,909,989 $1,014,424,142 

% Change -1.7% -2.2% 6.8% 15.5% 2.6% 6.6% 8.5% 8.6% 36.5% 15.5%

DEPOSITS (GROSS)

Deposits $692,632,948 $766,677,471 $887,906,649 $954,069,016 $1,060,169,908 $1,151,080,683 $1,276,810,288 $1,497,740,159 $2,027,630,925 $2,605,582,774 

% Change 15.9% 10.7% 15.8% 7.5% 11.1% 8.6% 10.9% 17.3% 35.4% 28.5%

Loans & advances to deposit ratio 60% 53% 49% 52% 48% 47% 46% 43% 43% 39%

PROFITS & DIVIDENDS

Net after tax profits $2,687,650 $4,384,705 $6,732,801 $7,621,439 $9,670,312 $9,628,952 $9,870,931 $2,106,155 $21,853,224 $32,441,543 

% Change 8.4% 63.1% 53.6% 13.2% 26.9% -0.4% 2.5% -78.7% 937.6% 48.5%

Dividend Per Share $0.08 $0.11 $0.15 $0.17 $0.22 $0.15 $0.15 $0.00 $0.43 $0.50

Source:  Audited Financial Statements

DEPOSITS

2015 2018 2021 2024
�0

�400,000,000

�1,200,000,000

�,200,000,000

�2,800,000,000



C
o-

op
 B

an
k

42
Banking on a Bright Future

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Financial 
Statements
Year ended September 30, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited
St. George’s
Grenada

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited (the “Bank”), set out on pages 49 
to 115, which comprise:

	� the statement of financial position as at September 30, 2024

	� the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive Income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and

	� notes to the financial statements including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of 
the Bank as at September 30, 2024, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting 
Standards).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Tel: 784-456-2669 
Tel: 473-435-2669 
bdovc@bdoecc.com
www.bdoecc.com

The Financial Services Centre 
P.O. Box 561 
Kingstown Park  
St. Vincent and the Grenadines 

BDO Eastern Caribbean, a network of firms registered in Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines and Grenada, is a member of 
BDO International Limited, a UK company Limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. 
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To the Shareholders  
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited 
St. George’s  
Grenada 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited (the “Bank”), 
set out on pages 53 to 115, which comprise the statement of financial position as at September 
30, 2023, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects the 
financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2023, and of its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders  
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited 
St. George’s  
Grenada 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited (the “Bank”), 
set out on pages 53 to 115, which comprise the statement of financial position as at September 
30, 2023, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects the 
financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2023, and of its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited
St. George’s
Grenada

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited (the “Bank”), set out on pages 47
to 113, which comprise:

 � the statement of financial position as at September 30, 2024

 � the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive Income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and

 � notes to the financial statements including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of 
the Bank as at September 30, 2024, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting 
Standards).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders  
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited 
St. George’s  
Grenada 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited (the “Bank”), 
set out on pages 53 to 115, which comprise the statement of financial position as at September 
30, 2023, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects the 
financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2023, and of its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders  
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited 
St. George’s  
Grenada 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited (the “Bank”), 
set out on pages 53 to 115, which comprise the statement of financial position as at September 
30, 2023, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects the 
financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2023, and of its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited
St. George’s
Grenada

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited (the “Bank”), set out on pages 47
to 113, which comprise:

 � the statement of financial position as at September 30, 2024

 � the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive Income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and

 � notes to the financial statements including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of 
the Bank as at September 30, 2024, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting 
Standards).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter
1.   Expected credit losses

Refer to Notes 4, 9(c) and 11 to the financial statements.

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, requires the Bank to 

evaluate credit losses using an expected credit loss 

(“ECL”) model. This approach requires management to 

make judgment and assumptions in the determination 

of the probability of default, loss given default and 

the application of forward-looking information. IFRS 

9 requires the Bank to record allowance for ECLs 

for all loans and advances to customers and other 

financial assets not measured at fair value through 

profit or loss.

Management is continuously assessing the 

assumptions used in determining the allowance for 

ECL process, and estimates are updated to account 

for current market and economic conditions.

The allowance for ECL on loans and advances to 

customers is considered to be a significant matter 

as it requires the application of judgement and use 

of subjective assumptions by management. The 

identification of impairment and the determination of 

the recoverable amounts are an inherently uncertain 

process involving various assumptions and factors 

including the financial condition of the counterparty 

and the timing and amount of expected future cash 

flows.

We assessed and tested the design and operating 

effectiveness of controls over:

	- Management’s process for making lending 
decisions inclusive of the approval, disbursement 
and monitoring of loans and advances to 
customers.

	- Management’s process for the determination of 
expected credit losses.

	- The completeness and accuracy of data used 
to determine the allowance for ECL, including 
transactional data captured at loan origination, 
internal credit quality assessments, storage of 
data and computations.

We performed the following procedures:
	- Reviewed the provision for loan loss policy 

and evaluated the modeling methodologies 
developed by the Bank in order to estimate ECLs 
and assessed their compliance with IFRS 9.

	- Assessed the adequacy of the provision for 
loan losses by testing the reasonableness of 
the methodologies and assumptions applied in 
determining 12-month and lifetime probability 
of default, loss given default, exposure at default, 
loan staging and the key assumptions and 
methodology for incorporating forward looking 
information used in the Bank’s ECL calculations.

	- Tested the completeness and accuracy of the data 
used in the models to the underlying accounting 
records.

	- Finally, we assessed the adequacy of the 
disclosures in the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  (CONT’D)

To the Shareholders
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited
St. George’s
Grenada
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter
2. Fair Value of Investments

Refer to Notes 4, 9(b) and 12 to the financial 

statements.

The Bank invests in various investment securities 

measured at fair value. These include securities 

classified as Level 1, trading in active markets, 

securities classified as Level 2, trading on markets 

for which there are no published prices available 

but have variable inputs that can be measured, and 

securities classified as Level 3 that have no observable 

market data.

Valuation techniques for these investments can be 

subjective in nature and involve various assumptions 

regarding pricing factors. Associated risk management 

disclosure is complex and dependent on high quality 

data. A specific area of audit focus includes the 

valuation of fair value Level 2 assets and Level 3 

assets where valuation techniques are applied in 

which unobservable inputs are used.

For Level 2 assets, these techniques include the use 

of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to 

other instruments that are substantially the same 

and discounted cash flow analyses making maximum 

use of market inputs, such as the market risk free 

yield curve.

Level 3 category includes financial assets that are not 

quoted as there are no active markets to determine 

a price.

Our procedures included the following:
	- We reviewed the valuation policy and considered 

whether the methodology remains appropriate 
given current market conditions.

	- We reviewed the reasonableness of the methods 
and assumptions used in determining the fair 
value of investment securities.

	- We independently assessed the fair value 
of investments by performing independent 
valuations on the investment portfolio as well 
as reviewing the fair value levels and recalculating 
the unrealized gain (loss) recognized.

	- We involved our valuation specialist to evaluate 
the reasonableness of prices for specific 
investments by comparison to independent 
third-party pricing sources and validating the 
level of these investments within the IFRS fair 
value hierarchy.

	- We also reviewed management’s assessments of 
whether there are any indicators of impairment 
including those securities that are not actively 
traded.

	- Finally, we assessed the adequacy of the 
disclosures in the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  (CONT’D)

To the Shareholders
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited
St. George’s
Grenada
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Other information included in the Bank’s 2024 Annual Report
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Bank’s 
2024 Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Bank’s 2024 Annual 
Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above 
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and those charged with governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS 
Accounting Standards, and for such internal controls as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

	� Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  (CONT’D)

To the Shareholders
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited
St. George’s
Grenada
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	� Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

	� Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

	� Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

	� Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have compiled with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Fitz-Reuben K. John.

BDO Eastern Caribbean
Kingstown, St. Vincent and the Grenadines
December 6, 2024

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  (CONT’D)

To the Shareholders
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited
St. George’s
Grenada

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  (cont’d)
We also (cont’d):

50 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Responsibilities of Management and those charged with 
governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs, and for such internal controls as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Bank’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have compiled with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this 
independent auditor’s report is Fitz Reuben K. John.

BDO Eastern Caribbean
Kingstown, St. Vincent and the Grenadines 
April 12, 2024
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Notes 2024
$

2023
$

ASSETS

Cash and balances with Central Bank and other banks 10 670,938,029 588,279,947

Loans and advances to customers 11 1,014,424,142 856,827,696

Investment securities 12 1,033,281,390 624,991,042

Other assets and prepayments 13 67,362,225 71,127,688

Property and equipment 14 71,334,843 73,412,160

Intangible assets 15 5,905,263 9,545,534

Deferred tax asset 16 230,888 358,200

Total assets 2,863,476,780 2,224,542,267

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 17 2,605,582,774 2,027,863,476

Subordinated debt 18 50,000,000 50,000,000

Trade and other liabilities 19 20,582,824 17,309,449

Income tax payable 5,661,967 2,888,549

Total liabilities 2,681,827,565 2,098,061,474

Shareholders’ equity

Stated capital 20 24,843,323 24,843,323

Statutory reserve 21 24,871,739 23,593,616

Accumulated other comprehensive income 22 40,317,629 14,324,126

Other reserves 23 3,171,596 2,360,557

Retained earnings 88,444,928 61,359,171

Total shareholders’ equity 181,649,215 126,480,793

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 2,863,476,780 2,224,542,267

The notes on pages 53 to 115 are an integral part of these financial statements.

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: -

Statement of Financial Position
As at September 30, 2024

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Darryl Brathwaite                                                                                                                             
Chairman 

Lisa Taylor
Deputy Chairman

Larry Lawrence 
Managing Director
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Notes 2024
$

2023
$

Interest income 24 57,481,241 42,627,248

Interest expense 25 (17,563,091) (11,073,448)

Net interest income 39,918,150 31,553,800

Other operating income 26 101,106,174 61,716,835

141,024,324 93,270,635

Impairment charge for credit losses 27 10,043,455 4,632,587

Goodwill Impairment 15 2,745,534 -

Operating expenses 28 84,209,454 59,460,115

96,998,443 64,092,702

Operating profit before income tax 44,025,881 29,177,933

Income tax expense 29 (11,584,338) (7,324,709)

Net profit for the year 32,441,543 21,853,224

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss

Net movement in fair value reserve 12.4 25,993,503 6,048,502

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss

Movement in revaluation reserve - -

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 25,993,503 6,048,502

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of Bank 58,435,046 27,901,726

Basic and diluted earnings per share 30 4.27 2.88

The notes on pages 53 to 115 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Notes 2024
$

2023
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit for the year 32,441,543 21,853,224

Adjustments for

Depreciation 14,28 4,977,462 5,066,849

Amortization of Core Deposit Intangible 894,737 -

Goodwill Impairment 2,745,534 -

Net interest income (39,918,150) (31,553,800)

Investment income (38,402,191) (17,818,467)

Net impairment losses on loans and advances and investments 27 10,043,455 4,632,587

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 57,513 128,029

Dividend income 26.1 (1,592,825) (1,127,473)

Income tax 29 11,584,338 7,324,709

Net loss before changes in operating assets and liabilities (17,168,584) (11,494,342)

Change in other assets and prepayments 3,765,463 (40,284,225)

Change in mandatory deposits with ECCB and other financial 
institutions

(16,554,359) (47,595,996)

Change in loans and advances to customers (165,134,890) (72,334,873)

Change in deposits from customers 577,720,593 147,597,766

Change in trade and other payables 3,273,375 5,525,496

Cash generated from operations 385,901,598 (18,586,174)

Interest received 56,931,145 48,787,835

Interest paid (14,148,883) (10,331,451)

Income taxes paid (8,683,607) (1,565,381)

Net cash generated from operating activities 420,000,253 18,304,829

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of business operations, net of cash acquired - 208,425,256

Additions to investment securities (379,647,225) (63,742,143)

Interest received from investments 33,797,657 17,892,452

Dividends received 1,592,825 1,127,473

Acquisition of property and equipment 14 (2,958,108) (2,277,425)

Proceeds from disposals 450 86,064

Net cash used in investing activities (347,214,401) 161,511,677

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid 20b (3,266,624) -

Proceeds from subordinated debt 18 - 50,000,000

Interest paid on lease liabilities 25 (16,217) (22,414)

Interest paid on subordinated debt 25 (3,399,288) (791,404)

Net cash used in financing activities (6,682,129) 49,186,182

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 66,103,723 229,002,688

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 457,808,740 228,806,052

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year 10 523,912,463 457,808,740

The notes on pages 53 to 115 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
As at September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)



C
o-

op
 B

an
k

53
Banking on a Bright Future

1.	 Incorporation
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited (the Bank) was incorporated on July 26, 1932, and continued as 
company 18 of 1926 under the Companies Act 1994 of Grenada. The Bank holds a license from the 
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank to engage in commercial banking activities. The Bank’s registered office 
and principal place of business is situated on Church Street, St. George’s. The Bank is primarily involved 
in the offering of retail and corporate banking services. It operates five retail banking units.

On September 28, 2015, the Bank obtained a broker-dealer license from the Eastern Caribbean Securities 
Regulatory Commission. The Bank launched its Brokerage and Investment Services to the public on 
November 22, 2017.

The Bank was listed on the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange on July 26, 2017.

On July 17, 2023, the assets and liabilities of FirstCaribbean International Bank (Barbados) Limited – 
Grenada Branch were acquired and assumed respectively by the Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited. 
The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method. (See note 34)

2.	 Statement of Compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Bank’s Board of Directors on December 3, 2024.

3.	 Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis; except for the following items 
(refer to individual accounting policy notes for details):

	- Financial instruments – fair value through other comprehensive income

	- Revalued property and equipment – fair value

	- Contingent consideration - fair value

	- Intangible assets - fair value

4.	 Estimates critical to reported amounts, and judgments in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 9.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies
(a)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash balances include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with central bank, 
deposits held with other financial institutions and highly liquid investments with insignificant interest 
rate risk and original maturities of ninety days or less at the date of purchase. Investments with 
maturities between ninety days and one year at the date of purchase are considered to be short-
term investment securities. Short-term investment securities consist primarily of investment grade 
commercial paper, bankers’ acceptances, and certificates of deposit.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.

(b)	 Property and equipment

Land and buildings are stated at the most recent valuation less subsequent depreciation for buildings. 
Valuations are performed by independent professional valuers. Any accumulated depreciation at 
the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the 
net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property and equipment are 
stated at historic cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditures that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Increases in the carrying amount arising from revaluation of land and buildings are credited to 
revaluation surplus in equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged 
against the surplus directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the statement of profit or loss.

Land is not depreciated. Leasehold improvements are amortised over the term of the lease. 
Depreciation of other assets is calculated using a straight-line method, at rates which are expected 
to write-off the cost or valuation of the assets over their estimated useful lives at the following 
annual rates:

Freehold buildings 2.5%
Leasehold improvements 6.67%
Furniture and equipment 15%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor Vehicles 25%

Gains or losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying 
amount and are taken into account in determining the profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, 
the amounts included in revaluation surplus are transferred to retained earnings.

Repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss when the expenditure is 
incurred. The cost of improvements is capitalized where such improvements would extend the 
remaining useful life of the buildings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(c)	 Foreign currency translation

These financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean Dollars which is the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates, which is the Bank’s functional 
currency and its presentation currency. All amounts are rounded to the nearest dollar except where 
otherwise stated.

Monetary items denominated in a foreign currency are translated with the closing rates as at the 
reporting date. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency 
are translated with the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition.  Foreign exchange gains or 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at reporting date 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currencies held to maturity 
designated at amortised cost are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes 
in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value are recognised 
through the statement of profit or loss and are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities designated as fair value through 
OCI, are included in the fair value in other comprehensive income and ultimately accounted for in 
accumulated other comprehensive income.

(d)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. The fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of the asset in an arm’s 
length transaction. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash flows 
largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash 
generating unit to which the asset belongs. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(e)	 Financial assets

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the categories below, depending on the purpose for which the 
asset was acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition.

i)	 Amortised cost

These assets incorporate financial assets where the objective is to hold these assets to collect 
contractual cash flows and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. 
They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
their acquisition or issue and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, less provision for impairment.

Interest on interest-bearing loans is included in the statement of income and is reported as 
“interest income”. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction 
from the carrying value of loan and receivables and recognised in the statement of income.

ii)	 Fair value through profit or loss

This category comprises in-the-money derivatives and out-of-money derivatives where the time 
value offsets the negative intrinsic value. They are carried in the statement of financial position 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
in the finance income or expense line.

The Bank does not have any assets held for trading nor does it voluntarily classify any financial 
assets as being at fair value through profit or loss.

iii)	 Fair value through other comprehensive income

The Bank has several strategic investments in listed and unlisted entities which are not accounted 
for as subsidiaries, associates, or jointly controlled entities.  For those investments, the Bank has 
made an irrevocable election to classify the investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income rather than through profit or loss as the Bank considers this measurement to be the 
most representative of the business model for these assets. They are carried at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the equity 
section. Upon disposal any balance within accumulated other comprehensive income reserve 
is reclassified directly to retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of 
part of the cost of the investment, in which case the full or partial amount of the dividend is 
recorded against the associated investments carrying amount.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

The Bank has debt securities whose objective is achieved by both holding these securities to 
collect contractual cash flows and having the intention to sell the debt securities before maturity. 
The contractual terms of the debt securities give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Upon disposal any balance within 
fair value through other comprehensive income reserve is reclassified directly to profit or loss.

Purchases and sales of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are recognised on settlement date with any change in fair value between trade date and 
settlement date being recognised in the accumulated other comprehensive income reserve.

(f)	 Impairment of financial assets

Under IFRS 9, financial assets are classified according to the business model of management and 
their cash flow characteristics. The Bank recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) 
on financial assets held to collect contractual cash flows and or measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and amortised cost. The Bank measures loss allowances at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:

(a)	 debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

(b)	 other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial 
recognition.

The Bank considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is 
equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The Bank does not apply the 
low credit risk exemption to any other financial instruments.

12-month ECL estimates the potential losses on a financial instrument from default events within 
the next 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12 month ECL is 
recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1’ financial instruments.

Lifetime ECL are the expected present value of losses that result if a borrower or issuer defaults 
on its obligation over the life of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for which credit risk 
increased from initial recognition and is not considered low however not credit-impaired are referred 
to as ‘Stage 2’ financial instruments. Consequently, financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is 
recognised and where there is objective evidence of credit impairment are referred to as ‘Stage 3’ 
financial instruments.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
(e)	 Financial assets  (cont’d)

iii)	 Fair value through other comprehensive income  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

	- financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the 
contract and the cash flows that the group expects to receive);

	- financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

	- financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts 
that the Bank expects to recover.

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial 
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not 
individually significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for 
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. 
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues 
to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured using Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model, as provided for in the 
IFRS9 standards.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial 
asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling 
the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

i)	 Credit impaired financial assets

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss 
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
(f)	 Impairment of financial assets  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment 
loss include:

	� Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest

	� Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (for example: weak capacity to meet its 
obligations, equity ratio, net income percentage of sales)

	� Breach of loan covenants or conditions

	� Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings

	� Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position

	� Adverse changes in economic and business conditions which reduces the ability of the 
borrower to fulfil its obligations

	� Downgrading below investment grade level

	� Investments where earnings decline in value below the carrying amount for a period 
determined to be other than temporary

	� A sustained reduction or cessation in the investee’s dividend payments

	� A change in the economic or technological environment in which the issuer operates that 
is expected to adversely affect ability to achieve profitability in its operations

The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by management 
for each identified portfolio. In general, the periods used vary between three (3) months and 
twelve (12) months; in exceptional cases, longer periods are warranted.

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the 
Bank considers the following factors:

	- The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.

	- The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.

	- The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

	- The probability of the debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through 
voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness.

	- The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as ‘lender 
of last resort’ to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of 
governments and agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the 
depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, whether there is the 
capacity to fulfil the required criteria.

	- Economic downturn: An economic downturn in the country.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
(f)	 Impairment of financial assets  (cont’d)

i)	 Credit impaired financial assets  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

ii)	 Write Off

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering a financial asset. This is generally the case when the Bank determines 
that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient 
cashflows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the 
individual asset level.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written-off against the related provision for loan impairment. 
Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the 
amount of the loss has been determined.

If, in a subsequent period, the loan is recovered, the amount of the reversal is recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss in impairment charge for credit losses.

iii)	 Renegotiated loans

Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant and 
whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but are treated 
as new loans. In subsequent years, the asset is considered to be past due on the basis of the 
renegotiated terms and conditions.

If an impairment instrument has been renegotiated, interest continues to be accrued on the 
reduced carrying amount of the asset and is recorded as part of “interest income”. If the fair 
value of the instrument increases in a subsequent year, the impairment loss is reversed through 
the statement of profit or loss.

(g)	 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are derecognised when 
extinguished.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are substantially deposits from customers.

(h)	 Loans and advances to customers, and allowance for loan losses

Loans are classified and measured at amortized cost net of unearned interest and allowance for 
loan losses.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
(f)	 Impairment of financial assets  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

The allowance for losses in accordance with IFRS 9, is based on an annual appraisal of loans. Specific 
and general allowance for loan losses is based on the year-end appraisal of loans. The specific 
element relates to identified loans whereas the general element relates to latent bad and doubtful 
loans which are present in any loan portfolio but have not been specifically identified. Loans are 
written down to estimated realisable value when the normal banking relationship with the customer 
has ceased; interest on the loan up to that time is credited to operations and allowance is made 
where appropriate.

(i)	  Revenue recognition

i)	 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of profit or loss for all interest-
bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest yield method based on 
the actual purchase price or estimated recoverable amount. Interest income includes coupons 
earned on fixed income investments and trading securities and accrued discount and premium 
on treasury bills and other discounted instruments.

ii)	 Fees and commission income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has 
been provided. Loan syndication fees are recognised as revenue when the syndication has 
been completed and the Bank retained no part of the loan package for itself or has retained a 
part at the same effective interest rate as the other participants. Commission and fees arising 
from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party – such 
as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of 
businesses – are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction.

iii)	 Dividends

Dividends are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the Bank’s right to receive the 
payment is established.

iv)	 Other income

Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the 
applicable service contracts, usually on a time-apportioned basis. Asset management fees related 
to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period in which the service is provided.

The same principle is applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services 
that are continuously provided over an extended period of time.  Performance linked fees or 
fee components are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
(h)	 Loans and advances to customer, and allowance for loan losses  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(j)	 Employee benefits

i)	 Pension obligation

The Bank operates a defined contribution pension scheme. Under this plan, the Bank pays 
fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligations to 
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the 
benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

Contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.  Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
future payments is available.

ii)	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement 
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The 
Bank recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating 
the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility 
of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than twelve (12) months after reporting date 
are discounted to present value.

(k)	 Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset 
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property and equipment, provisions 
for pensions and other post-retirement benefits and tax losses carried forward; and, in relation to 
acquisitions, on the difference between the fair values of the net assets acquired and their tax base. 
The rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date are used to determine deferred 
income tax. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The tax effects of income tax losses available for carry-forward are recognised as an asset when it 
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(l)	 Stated capital

i)	 Share issue cost

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options or to the acquisition 
of a business are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

ii)	 Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in equity in the period in which they are declared 
by the Directors.

Dividends for the year that are declared after reporting date are disclosed within the subsequent 
events note.

(m)	 Guarantees and letters of credit

Guarantees and letters of credit comprise undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange drawn 
on customers. The Bank expects most guarantees and letters of credit to be settled simultaneously 
with reimbursement from the customers. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial 
institutions, and other bodies on behalf of customers.

The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all guarantees are 
agreed on arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the 
guarantee obligation. No receivable for the future premiums is recognized. Any increase in the liability 
relating to guarantees is reported in the statement of profit or loss within other operating expenses.

(n)	 Leases

The Bank recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises of the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments made on or before the commencement date, plus any 
initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset 
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Bank by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects 
that the Bank will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated 
over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of 
property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment 
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Bank uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Bank determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external 
financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the 
asset leased. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprises of the 
following:

	- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments

	- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate as at the commencement date

	- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

	- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 
payments in an optional renewal period if the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Bank is reasonably certain not 
to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there 
is a change in the Bank’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, if the Bank changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 
termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Bank presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 
‘property and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘trade and other liabilities’ in the statement of 
financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 
assets and short-term leases. The Bank recognises the lease payments associated with these leases 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
(n)	 Leases  (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(o)	 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. The useful lives on intangible assets are assessed to be either 
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.

The amortisation period for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reversed at a minimum at 
each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by charging the amortisation 
period and treated as charges in accounting estimates.

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss. Intangible 
assets with infinite useful lives are measured at cost less impairment losses. They are assessed for 
impairment at least annually.

i)	 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost of the acquisition over the net fair value of identifiable 
assets/liabilities of the acquiree. When the cost is less than the fair value (negative goodwill), 
it is recognised immediately in profit/loss.  Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses and is assessed for impairment at least annually.

ii)	 Core deposits

Core deposits have a finite useful life and are measured at cost less accumulated amortization.  
The amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the 
expected retention period within the Bank, which ranged from 9.5 to 10 years.

iii)	 Impairment

At each reporting date intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in 
estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed 
to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if 
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Bank chooses to use the cost model 
for the measurement after recognition. Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are annually 
tested for impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired, 
the intangible asset is analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable.

5.	 Summary of material accounting policies  (cont’d)
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6.	 New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective 
during the year
Certain new, revised and amended standards and interpretations came into effect during the current 
financial year. The Bank has assessed them and has adopted those which are relevant to its financial 
statements, viz:

i)	 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 was issued by the IASB in 2017 and replaces IFRS 4 for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023. IFRS 17 introduces an internationally consistent approach to the accounting 
for insurance contracts. Prior to IFRS 17, significant diversity has existed worldwide relating to 
the accounting for and disclosure of insurance contracts, with IFRS 4 permitting many previous 
accounting approaches to be followed. Since IFRS 17 applies to all insurance contracts issued by 
an entity (with limited scope exclusions), its adoption may have an effect on non-insurers such as 
the Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited. The Bank carried out an assessment of its contracts and 
operations and concluded that the adoption of IFRS 17 has had no effect on the annual financial 
statements of the Bank.

ii)	 Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS 
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements)

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2. The amendments 
aim to make accounting policy disclosures more informative by replacing the requirement to disclose 
‘significant accounting policies’ with ‘material accounting policy information’. The amendments 
also provide guidance under what circumstance, the accounting policy information is likely to be 
considered material and therefore requiring disclosure.

These amendments have no effect on the measurement or presentation of any items in the financial 
statements of the Bank but affect the disclosure of accounting policies of the Bank.

iii)	 Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors)

The amendments to IAS 8, which added the definition of accounting estimates, clarify that the effects 
of a change in an input or measurement technique are changes in accounting estimates, unless 
resulting from the correction of prior period errors. These amendments clarify how entities make 
the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, changes in accounting policies and prior 
period errors.

These amendments had no significant effect on the financial statements of the Bank.
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iv)	 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12 
Income Taxes)

In May 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12, which clarify whether the initial recognition 
exemption applies to certain transactions that result in both an asset and a liability being recognised 
simultaneously (e.g. a lease in the scope of IFRS 16). The amendments introduce an additional 
criterion for the initial recognition exemption, whereby the exemption does not apply to the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability which at the time of the transaction, gives rise to equal taxable 
and deductible temporary differences.

These amendments had no significant effect on the annual financial statements of the Bank.

v)	 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules (Amendment to IAS 12 Income Taxes)

In December 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) released 
a draft legislative framework for a global minimum tax that is expected to be used by individual 
jurisdictions. The goal of the framework is to reduce the shifting of profit from one jurisdiction to 
another in order to reduce global tax obligations in corporate structures.  In March 2022, the OECD 
released detailed technical guidance on Pillar Two of the rules.

Stakeholders raised concerns with the IASB about the potential implications on income tax accounting, 
especially accounting for deferred taxes, arising from the Pillar Two model rules. The IASB issued the 
final Amendments (the Amendments) International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules, in response 
to stakeholder concerns on 23 May 2023. The Amendments introduce a mandatory exception to 
entities from the recognition and disclosure of information about deferred tax assets and liabilities 
related to Pillar Two model rules. The exception is effective immediately and retrospectively. The 
Amendments also provide for additional disclosure requirements with respect to an entity’s exposure 
to Pillar Two income taxes.

Management of the Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited has determined that the Bank is not within 
the scope of OECD’s Pillar Two Model Rules and the exception to the recognition and disclosure 
of information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes is not 
applicable to the Bank.

The amendments have no significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements.

6.	 New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective 
during the year  (cont’d)
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7.	 New, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2024 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Bank has not early adopted 
the following new or amended standards in preparing these financial statements.

i)	 IFRS S1 General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information

IFRS S1 sets out overall requirements for sustainability-related financial disclosures with the objective 
which require an entity to disclose information about its sustainability related risks and opportunities 
that is useful to primary users of general-purpose financial reports in making decisions relating to 
providing resources to the entity. The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2024.

ii)	 IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures

IFRS S2 sets out the requirements for identifying, measuring and disclosing information about 
climate-related risks and opportunities that is useful to primary users of general purpose financial 
reports in making decisions relating to providing resources to the entity.  The amendment is effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024.

iii)	 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1)

The amendment defers the effective date of the January 2020 amendments by one year, so that 
entities would be required to apply the amendment for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2024.

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies 
determine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain 
settlement date should be classified as current (due or potentially due to be settled within one year) 
or non-current. The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2024.

iv)	 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1)

The amendment clarifies how conditions with which an entity must comply within twelve months 
after the reporting period affect the classification of a liability. The amendment is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024.

v)	 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16)

The amendment clarifies how a seller-lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions 
that satisfy the requirements in IFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale. The amendment is effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024.
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vi)	 Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7)

The amendments add disclosure requirements, and ‘signposts’ within existing disclosure requirements, 
that ask entities to provide qualitative and quantitative information about supplier finance 
arrangements. The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2024.

vii)	 Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21)

The amendments contain guidance to specify when a currency is exchangeable and how to determine 
the exchange rate when it is not. The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2025.

The Bank is currently assessing the impact of these new accounting standards and amendments.  The 
Bank does not believe that the amendments to IAS 1 will have a significant impact on the classification of 
its liabilities. The Bank does not expect any other standards issued by the IASB, but are yet to be effective, 
to have a material impact on the Bank’s financial statements.

8.	 Financial risk management
The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, 
evaluation, acceptance, and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk 
is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in 
business. The Bank’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and 
minimise potential adverse effects on the Bank’s financial performance.

The Bank’s management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date 
information systems. The Bank regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect 
changes in markets, products, and emerging best practice.

Risk management is carried out by the Executive Risk Management Committee under policies approved 
by the Board of Directors. The Bank’s Executive Risk Management Committee identifies, evaluates, and 
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Bank’s operating units. The Board provides written 
principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and non-derivative financial instruments. In addition, the 
Internal Audit Department is responsible for the independent review of risk management and the control 
environment.

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk. 
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.

7.	 New, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective  (cont’d)
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8.1	 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Bank’s customers, clients or market 
counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from 
commercial and consumer loans and advances, credit cards, and loan commitments arising from such 
lending activities, but can also arise from credit enhancement provided, such as credit financial guarantees, 
letters of credit, endorsements, and acceptances.

The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising from balances with central bank, deposits with other 
banks and non-bank financial institutions, investments in debt securities and other exposures arising 
from its trading activities (‘trading exposures’), including non-equity trading portfolio assets.

Loans and advances to customers
The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk which, is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay 
amounts in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided for losses in accordance with IFRS 9. 
Significant changes in the economy, or in the performance of a particular industry segment that represents 
a concentration in the Bank’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those provided for 
at the reporting date. Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk.

Debt securities and other bills
For debt securities and treasury bills, external rating such as Standard & Poor’s or CARICRIS or their 
equivalents are used by the Asset Liability Committee for managing of the credit risk exposures. The 
investments in those securities and bills are viewed to obtain a better credit quality mapping and maintain 
a readily available source to meet the funding requirements at the same time.

Cash and cash equivalents
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Bank in accordance with 
the Bank’s policy. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Bank’s Risk Department on an annual 
basis and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Bank’s Investment Committee 
and where necessary the Board of Directors. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and 
therefore mitigate financial loss through potential counterparty’s failure to make payments.

8.1.1	 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Bank manages limits and controls concentrations of credit risk whenever they are identified, to 
individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in 
part by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees, except for personal lending where 
no such facilities can be obtained.

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted 
in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and industry segments.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
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Collateral held
The Bank holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures to mitigate 
credit risk. The most traditional of these is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common 
practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit 
risk mitigation. The following table set out the principal types of collateral held against different types 
of financial assets.

Types of credit exposure

Credit Facility Principal type of collateral held

Loans and advances to banks
Loans
Daily cheque clearing (ACH)

None
None

Loans and advances to retail customers
Mortgage lending
Personal loans and credit cards

Mortgage over residential properties, cash collateral
Mortgage over residential properties, bill of sale, cash collateral, 
chattels, personal guarantees, equities quoted on a recognized 
exchange

Loans and advances to corporate
customers
Corporate loans and advances Mortgages over commercial properties, Government and 

Corporate bonds
Mortgage debenture/charges over business assets such as 
premises, inventory, and accounts receivable; equities quoted 
on a recognized exchange and
Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and 
equities.

The Bank’s credit risk management policies include requirements relating to collateral valuation and 
management, including verification requirements and legal certainty. Valuations are updated periodically 
depending upon the nature of the collateral.  Management monitors the market value of collateral and 
requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement during its periodic review of 
loan accounts in arrears. Policies are in place to monitor the existence of undesirable concentration in 
the collateral supporting the Bank’s credit exposure.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.1.1	 Risk limit control and mitigation policies  (cont’d)
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Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are secured; individual credit facilities are generally 
secured. In addition, in order to minimize the credit loss, the Bank will seek additional credit collateral 
from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed for the relevant individual loans 
and advances.

Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the nature 
of the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.

Credit-related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. 
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans.  Documentary and commercial 
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third 
party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are 
authorisations by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk 
than a direct loan.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form 
of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the 
Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the 
likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit 
are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to 
maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of 
credit risk than shorter-term commitments.

8.1.2	 Impairment and provisioning policies

The Bank’s internal rating system focuses on expected credit losses, which considers the risk of future 
events giving rise to losses. In contrast, impairment allowance is recognised for financial reporting purposes 
only for losses that have been incurred at the reporting date based on objective evidence of impairment.

The Bank has adopted an Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model, as provided for in the IFRS9
standards, which comprise:

1.	 A ‘roll-rate’ migration model, which maps a significant increase in credit risk to the percentage chance 
of delinquency and becoming non-performing.

2.	 The incorporation of adequate forward-looking information which considers variables such as: 
discount rate, time value of money, macro-economic and industry/sector performance forecasts; 
drawn from reasonable and credible available data.

3.	 Adequate portfolio segmentation.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.1.1	 Risk limit control and mitigation policies  (cont’d)
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The Bank’s process for identifying and measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9, shall at minimum, include:

	� The method and process for identifying the staging of individual loans and advances

	� Segmentation of loans into appropriate categories to determine historical loss information which 
will be subsequently updated to reflect the effects of forward-looking information

	� Present value of expected future cash flows used to measure ALP

	� Fair value of collateral

	� The approximate recovery cost and discount rate

	� Estimation of current and future probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), loss given 
default (LGD), and discount rate, incorporating forward-looking information and modelling scenarios. 
For significant drivers, future variables are required and shall be considered when calculating 
expected credit loss.

	� Assessment of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for the portfolio.

	� Modelling scenarios into the business cycle based on historical information, including, determination 
of the number of scenarios used to evaluate the performance of each segment of the portfolio, and 
the weightings associated with each scenario.

	� Delinquency and non-accrual/non-performing reports.

The key judgments and assumptions adopted by the Bank in addressing the requirements of the standard 
are discussed.

In determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank considers the probability 
of default upon initial recognition of an asset on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. 
To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.

The Bank uses three categories for loans which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is 
determined for each of those categories. These internal credit risk ratings are aligned to external credit 
ratings recommended by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.1.2	 Impairment and provisioning policies  (cont’d)
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A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Bank’s expected credit loss model is as follows:

Category Definition Basis of recognition of ECL

Stage 1 Credit facilities that have not experienced a significant 
increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition 
and not purchased or originated as credit impaired.
Customers have a low risk of default and a strong 
capacity to meet contractual cash flows.

Recognize 12 month expected losses

Stage 2 Credit facilities that experience a SICR since initial 
recognition but are not yet credit impaired.

There is a rebuttable presumption that there is a 
significant increase in credit risk if a contractual 
repayment is more than 30 days past its due date and 
or where the risk is assessed as elevated.

Recognize lifetime expected losses and 
presenting interest on a gross basis

Stage 3 Credit facilities that are impaired and which require 
a lifetime ECL.
Non-performing status
90 days past due

Recognize lifetime expected losses 
presenting interest on a net basis

Expected credit loss on loans and advances to customers are as follows:

Year ended September 30, 2024

Loan
balances

$

Accrued
interest

$
ECL

$
Total

$

Stage 1 904,668,572 1,675,323 (16,606,153) 889,737,742

Stage 2 75,451,162 1,032,008 (3,186,497) 73,296,673

Stage 3 61,206,705 6,141,623 (15,958,601) 51,389,727

As at September 30, 2024 1,041,326,439 8,848,954 (35,751,251) 1,014,424,142

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.1.2	 Impairment and provisioning policies  (cont’d)
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Year ended September 30, 2023

Loan
balances

$

Accrued
interest

$
ECL

$
Total

$

Stage 1 748,633,991 1,492,853 (24,723,323) 725,403,521

Stage 2 73,171,665 2,795,166 (2,200,983) 73,765,848

Stage 3 56,104,333 4,010,839 (2,456,845) 57,658,327

As at September 30, 2023 877,909,989 8,298,858 (29,381,151) 856,827,696

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds 
at least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require.  Impairment allowances on 
individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at reporting date 
on a case-by-case basis and are applied to all individually significant accounts. The assessment normally 
encompasses collateral held (including reconfirmation of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts 
for that individual account.

The following summarises the percentage of the Bank’s loans and advances to customers and the 
associated impairment allowance for each of the five internal rating grades.

Credit risk exposure Impairment allowance

Bank Rating
2024

%
2023

%
2024

%
2023

%

Pass 86 86 0 0

Special mention 8 8 18 30

Substandard 6 6 64 52

Doubtful 0 0 7 16

Loss 0 0 11 2

100 100 100 100

Expected credit loss on investment debt securities are as follows:

Year ended September 30, 2024

Amortised
Cost

$

Fair Value
through OCI

$
ECL

$
Total

$

Stage 1 383,824,959 136,068,857 (4,595,499) 515,298,317

Stage 2 305,540,314 170,218,544 (1,161,957) 474,596,901

Stage 3 - - -

As at September 30, 2024 689,365,273 306,287,401 (5,757,456) 989,895,218

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.1.2	 Impairment and provisioning policies  (cont’d)
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Year ended September 30, 2023

Amortised
Cost

$

Fair Value
through OCI

$
ECL

$
Total

$

Stage 1 265,051,771 224,945,640 (2,695,779) 487,301,632

Stage 2 14,511,452 89,813,046 (1,106,761) 103,217,737

Stage 3 - - -

As at September 30, 2023 279,563,223 314,758,686 (3,802,540) 590,519,369

The following summarises the maximum credit risk relating to the financial assets in the statement of 
financial position: -

Maximum Exposure

2024
$000’s

2023
$000’s

Deposits with Central Bank and other banks 670,938 588,280

Investment securities 995,653 594,322

Loans and advances to customers:

Personal overdrafts and loans 497,872 424,628

Corporate overdrafts and loans 552,303 461,581

Other assets and prepayments 67,362 71,128

Total 2,784,128 2,139,939

The following summarises the maximum credit risk relating to off balance sheet financial assets:

2024
$

2023
$

Financial guarantees 11,755,444 10,470,833

Loan commitments and other related obligations 146,414,788 129,369,226

Total 158,170,232 139,840,059

The above schedule represents a worst-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank as of reporting 
date, without considering any collateral held or credit enhancements attached.  For on-statement of 
financial position assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in 
the statement of financial position.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.1.2	 Impairment and provisioning policies  (cont’d)
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8.1.4	 Loans and advances to customers are summarised as follows:

Mortgages

$

Demand loans

$

Overdrafts and 
credit cards 

$

Total

$

September 30, 2024

Neither past due nor impaired 765,837,825 111,334,326 47,096,014 924,268,165

Past due but not impaired 90,208,895 8,767,491 1,556,901 100,533,287

Individually impaired 3,031,473 3,153,651 10,339,863 16,524,987

Gross 859,078,193 123,255,468 58,992,778 1,041,326,439

Add: interest receivable 8,848,954

Less: allowance for impairment (35,751,251)

Net 1,014,424,142

Mortgages

$

Demand loans

$

Overdrafts and 
credit cards 

$

Total

$

September 30, 2023

Neither past due nor impaired 639,724,725 80,435,442 44,918,556 765,078,723

Past due but not impaired 94,127,544 7,657,534 2,383,834 104,168,912

Individually impaired 5,300,323 2,838,960 523,071 8,662,354

Gross 877,909,989

Add: interest receivable 8,298,858

Less: allowance for impairment (29,381,151)

Net 856,827,696

The total allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances is $35,751,251 (2023: $29,381,151), which 
includes a provision for individually impaired loans. Further information of the allowance for impairment 
losses on loans and advances to customers is provided in note 11.2.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
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8.1.5	 Age analysis of loans and advances

The credit quality of the portfolio on loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can 
be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Bank.

Mortgages

$

Demand loans

$

Overdrafts and 
credit cards 

$

Total

$

At September 30, 2024 765,837,825 111,334,326 47,096,014 924,268,165

At September 30, 2023 639,724,725 80,435,442 44,918,556 765,078,723

Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired unless other information 
is available to indicate the contrary.

The gross amount of loans and advances by class to customers that were past due but not impaired 
were as follows:-

Mortgages

$

Demand loans

$

Overdrafts and 
credit cards 

$

Total

$

At September 30, 2024

Past due up to 30 days 50,067,743 4,978,581 808,446 55,854,770

Past due 31 - 60 days 20,641,171 2,057,989 574,510 23,273,670

Past due 61 - 90 days 19,499,981 1,730,921 173,945 21,404,847

90,208,895 8,767,491 1,556,901 100,533,287

Mortgages

$

Demand loans

$

Overdrafts and 
credit cards 

$

Total

$

At September 30, 2023

Past due up to 30 days 65,601,109 4,596,136 - 70,197,245

Past due 31 - 60 days 15,696,898 1,646,772 2,383,834 19,727,504

Past due 61 - 90 days 12,829,537 1,414,626 - 14,244,163

94,127,544 7,657,534 2,383,834 104,168,912

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
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The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by classes are as follows:-

Mortgages

$

Demand loans

$

Overdrafts and 
credit cards 

$

Total

$

At September 30, 2024 3,031,473 3,153,651 10,339,863 16,524,987

At September 30, 2023 5,300,323 2,838,960 523,071 8,662,354

8.2	 Market risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open 
positions in interest rates, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific 
market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rate or prices such as interest rates, 
credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank separates exposures to market risk 
into either trading or non-trading portfolios.

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Bank’s retail banking 
assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios also consist of exchange and equity risks arising from the 
Bank’s equity security investments (Note 12).

8.2.1	 Currency risk

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange 
rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency 
and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily. The Bank’s exposure 
to currency risk is minimal since most of its assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are held in United 
States dollars. The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) 
has been formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00 since 1976. The following table summarises the Bank’s 
exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 30 September.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.1.5	 Age analysis of loans and advances  (cont’d)
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8.2.2	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk manifests in two primary forms: cash flow risk and fair value risk. Cash flow interest 
rate risk pertains to potential fluctuations in the future cash flows of a financial instrument due to shifts 
in market interest rates. Conversely, fair value interest rate risk involves the possibility of changes in 
the value of a financial instrument because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank is exposed to 
the impact of fluctuations in market interest rates on both cash flow and fair value risks. While interest 
margins could increase due to such fluctuations, unforeseen movements may lead to decreases or losses. 
The Bank’s Asset/Liability Committee reviews and monitors on a monthly basis the level of mismatch of 
interest rate repricing gap.

The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks.

Up to
One Year

$’000

Between
1 – 5 Years

$’000

Over
5 Years

$’000

Non-
Interest
Bearing

$’000
Total
$’000

At September 30, 2024

Assets

Cash and balances with Central Bank 224,466 - - 446,472 670,938

Loans and advances to customers 159,708 199,998 641,340 13,378 1,014,424

Investment securities 544,632 427,177 18,086 43,386 1,033,281

Other assets and prepayments - - - 67,362 67,362

Total assets 928,806 627,175 659,426 570,598 2,786,005

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 1,043,927 - - 1,561,656 2,605,583

Subordinated debt - - 50,000 - 50,000

Trade and other payables - - - 20,583 20,583

Total liabilities 1,043,927 - 50,000 1,582,239 2,676,166

Net interest re-pricing gap (115,121) 627,175 609,426 (1,011,641) 109,839

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
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Up to
One Year

$’000

Between
1 – 5 Years

$’000

Over
5 Years

$’000

Non-
Interest
Bearing

$’000
Total
$’000

At September 30, 2023

Assets

Cash and balances with Central Bank 40,424 - - 547,856 588,280

Loans and advances to customers 127,565 75,030 637,967 16,266 856,828

Investment securities 535,602 31,777 23,140 34,472 624,991

Other assets and prepayments - - - 71,128 71,128

Total assets 703,591 106,807 661,107 669,722 2,141,227

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 991,665 - - 1,036,198 2,027,863

Subordinated debt - - 50,000 - 50,000

Trade and other payables - - - 17,309 17,309

Total liabilities 991,665 - 50,000 1,053,507 2,095,172

Net interest re-pricing gap (288,074) 106,807 611,107 (383,785) 46,055

Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers at variable rates. At September 
30, 2024, if variable interest rates had been 0.5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, 
post-tax profit for the year would have been $374,878 (2023: $153,194) higher/lower, mainly as a result 
of higher/lower interest income on variable rate loans.

8.3	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence may be 
the failure to meet obligations to repay deposits and fulfil commitments to lend.

The Bank is exposed to daily cash calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current 
accounts, maturing deposits, loan draw-downs, and guarantees. The Bank does not maintain cash 
resources to meet all of these needs, as experience shows that a minimum level of reinvestment of 
maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of certainty. The Board sets limits on the minimum 
proportion of maturing funds available to meet such calls and on the minimum level of interbank and 
other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.2.2	 Interest rate risk  (cont’d)
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The Bank responds to possible future liquidity constraints through enhanced active monitoring of the 
liquidity position. There is no significant deterioration anticipated in the short-term given the current 
liquidity position.

8.3.1	 Liquidity risk management

The liquidity management process ensures that the Bank is able to honour all its commitments when they 
fall due. Liquidity risk is managed by the Bank’s Executive Risk Management Committee, which formulates 
strategies for maintaining adequate exposure from deposit concentrations and building core deposits.

The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-
bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Bank and its 
exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably 
less than the amount of the commitment because the Bank does not generally expect the third party to 
draw funds under the agreement. The total outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend 
credit does not necessarily represent future cash requirements, since many of these commitments will 
expire or terminate without being funded.

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities and 
assets held for managing liquidity risks by remaining contractual maturities at the statement of financial 
position date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Up to
One Year

$’000

Between
1 – 5 Years

$’000

Over
5 Years

$’000
Total
$’000

At September 30, 2024
Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers 2,605,583 - - 2,605,583

Subordinated debt - - 50,000 50,000

Trade and other payables 19,807 776 - 20,583

Total financial liabilities 2,625,390 776 50,000 2,676,166

Assets held for managing liquidity

Cash and balances with Central Bank 670,938 - - 670,938

Loans and advances to customers 159,708 199,998 654,718 1,014,424

Investment securities 544,633 427,177 61,471 1,033,281

Total financial assets held for 
managing liquidity 1,375,279 627,175 716,189 2,718,643

Net liquidity gap (1,250,111) 626,399 666,189 42,477

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.3	 Liquidity risk  (cont’d)
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Up to
One Year

$’000

Between
1 – 5 Years

$’000

Over
5 Years

$’000
Total
$’000

At September 30, 2023
Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers 2,027,863 - - 2,027,863

Subordinated debt - - 50,000 50,000

Trade and other payables 14,806 2,503 - 17,309

Total financial liabilities 2,042,669 2,503 50,000 2,095,172

Assets held for managing liquidity

Cash and cash equivalents 588,280 - - 588,280

Loans and advances to customers 127,565 75,030 654,233 856,828

Investment securities 535,603 31,777 57,611 624,991

Total financial assets held for 
managing liquidity 1,251,448 106,807 711,844 2,070,099

Net liquidity gap (791,221) 104,304 661,844 (25,073)

Off-statement of financial position items
(a)	 Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees (Note 31) are also included below based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

(b)	 Loan commitments and other related obligations

The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-statement of financial position financial 
instruments that commit it to extend credit to customers and other facilities (Note 31), are summarised 
in the table below.

2024
$

2023
$

Financial guarantees 11,755,444 10,470,833

Loan commitments and other related obligations 146,414,788 129,369,226

Total 158,170,232 139,840,059

8.4	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted 
market price. If no quoted market prices exist, the fair values represented are estimates derived using 
present value or other valuation techniques indicative of net realizable value.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.3.1	 Liquidity risk management  (cont’d)
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The fair values of cash resources, other assets and liabilities, cheques, and other items in transit and due 
to other banks are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short-term nature. Debt 
securities are carried at amortised cost in the absence of market value and are considered to reflect fair 
value. Equity investments that are unquoted are carried at cost less impairment which is management’s 
estimate of fair value. The fair value of off-statement of financial position commitments are also assumed 
to approximate the amounts disclosed in Note 31 due to their short-term nature.

The following methods and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value of each class of 
financial assets and liabilities for which it is practical to estimate a value.

(a)	 Deposits from customers

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing 
deposits, is the amount repayable on demand. Deposits payable on a fixed date at rates which reflect 
market conditions are assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying value.

(b)	 Investment securities

Investment securities include interest bearing debt and equity securities. Debt securities are carried at 
amortised cost in the absence of market value and are considered to reflect fair value. Assets classified 
for sale are measured at fair value based on market prices or broker/dealer price quotations. Where 
this information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities 
with similar credit maturity and yield characteristics.

(c)	 Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers are net of allowance for impairment. The estimated fair values 
of loans and advances represent the discounted amount of estimated future cashflows expected 
to be received. Expected cashflows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and 
liabilities on the Bank’s statement of financial position that are presented at their fair value.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.4	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities  (cont’d)
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Carrying value Fair value

2024
$

2023
$

2024
$

2023
$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 670,938,029 588,279,948 670,938,029 547,856,332

Loans and advances to customers 1,014,424,142 856,827,696 1,014,424,142 856,827,696

Investment securities:

- Unquoted debt securities 363,556,958 319,684,695 363,556,958 319,684,695

- Unquoted equity securities 2,443,696 1,288,936 2,443,696 1,288,936

- Quoted securities 667,280,736 304,017,411 667,280,736 304,017,411

Other assets and prepayments 67,362,225 71,127,688 67,362,225 71,127,688

Total financial assets 2,786,005,786 2,141,226,374 2,786,005,786 2,141,226,374

Carrying value Fair value

2024
$

2023
$

2024
$

2023
$

Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers 2,605,582,774 2,027,863,476 2,605,582,774 2,027,863,476

Subordinated debt 50,000,000 50,000,000 50,000,000 50,000,000

Trade and other payables 20,582,823 17,309,449 20,582,823 17,309,449

Total financial liabilities 2,676,165,597 2,095,172,925 2,676,165,597 2,095,172,925

Carrying value Fair value

2024
$

2023
$

2024
$

2023
$

Off-statement of financial 
position instruments

Loan commitments, letters of 
credit, guarantees and other 
credit obligations 158,170,232 139,840,059 158,170,232 139,840,059

158,170,232 139,840,059 158,170,232 139,840,059

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.4	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities  (cont’d)
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8.5	 Financial instruments measured at fair value - Fair value hierarchy

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

September 30, 2024
Assets measured at fair value
through OCI:

- debt securities 224,685,350 81,602,051 - 306,287,401

- equity securities 40,942,176 - 2,443,696 43,385,872

Total 265,627,526 81,602,051 2,443,696 349,673,273

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

September 30, 2023
Assets measured at fair value
through OCI:

- debt securities 232,598,581 82,160,105 - 314,758,686

- equity securities 33,182,737 - 1,288,936 34,471,673

Total 265,781,318 82,160,105 1,288,936 349,230,359

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation 
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from 
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of 
inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

	� Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  This level 
includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges such as Eastern 
Caribbean and New York.

	� Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

	� Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant 
unobservable components.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
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8.6	 Capital management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of 
the statement of financial position, are:

	� To comply with the capital requirements set by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;

	� To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can maintain investor, 
creditor and market confidence; and

	� To maintain a strong capital base while balancing the impact on the returns for shareholders and 
supporting the development of the business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored by the Bank’s management, employing 
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (‘the ECCB’) for 
supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Regulator on a quarterly basis.

The ECCB requires each bank or banking group to: (a) hold the minimum level of regulatory capital of 
$20,000,000 and (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted asset (the “Capital 
Adequacy Ratio”) at or above the minimum indicated in the prudential guidelines of 8%.  The ECCB adopted 
a hybrid of the Basel II/III capital requirements with effect from 1 January 2024. This adoption of Basel 
II/III allows the ECCB to set individual capital requirements for each bank or banking group in excess of 
the minimum Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of 8%. A key input to the CAR-setting process is the Bank’s 
capital plan. The capital requirement for the Bank was revised by a communication from the ECCB dated 
May 16, 2023, which states that the Bank will be required to maintain a minimum CAR of 10%, pursuant 
to Section 47 of the Banking Act, 2015 of Grenada (No 20 of 2015), amended (“the Act”).

The Bank’s regulatory capital consists of the sum of the following elements:

	� Common Equity Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, retained earnings, accumulated 
other comprehensive income, reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings, and deductions 
for goodwill, intangible assets and other regulatory adjustments for capital adequacy purposes.

	� Tier 2 capital, which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities, general impairment allowances 
and unrealised gains arising from the fair valuation of fixed assets, and deduction for the Bank’s 
brokerage dealer license.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five (5) risk weights classified according 
to the nature of – and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with – each asset 
and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted 
for off-statement of financial position exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent 
nature of the potential losses.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
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The table below summarises the composition of the regulatory capital and the Capital Adequacy Ratio 
(CAR) of the Bank as of the reporting date. During the reporting periods, the Bank complied with all of 
the ECCB capital requirements.

2024
$000’s

2023
$000’s

Common Equity Tier I (CET1) capital:

Ordinary shares 24,872 24,872

Disclosed reserves 28,044 25,954

Retained earnings 88,445 61,359

Accumulated other comprehensive income 16,291 -

Deductions:

Intangible assets (5,905) (9,546)

Deferred tax (231) -

Investments in own shares (28) (28)

Total CET1 capital 151,488 102,611

Tier 2 capital:

Fixed assets revaluation reserves 24,027 20,522

General Provision 1,173 5,371

Subordinated debt 50,000 50,000

Deductions:

Brokerage License (1,000) (1,000)

Total Tier 2 capital 74,200 74,893

Total regulatory capital 225,688 177,504

Total Risk-Weighted Assets 1,678,912 1,214,292

CET1 capital ratio 9.02% 8.45%

Total capital ratio 13.44% 14.62%

The total capital ratio is calculated as total regulatory capital divided by total risk-weighted assets.

The Capital Adequacy Ratio for 2024 was calculated using the Basel II/III framework, while the 2023 ratio 
was computed under the Basel I framework.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
8.6	 Capital management  (cont’d)
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8.7	 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss in both financial and non-financial terms arising from 
a wide variety of causes associated with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology, and infrastructure. 
It may also arise from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising 
from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. 
Operational risks arise from all the Bank’s operations and are faced by all departments.

Managing operational risk in the Bank is seen as an integral part of day-to-day operations and management, 
which includes explicit consideration of both the opportunities and the risks of all business activities. The 
Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk to balance an avoidance of financial losses and damage 
to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict 
initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational 
risk is assigned to the management team of each department. This responsibility is supported by bank-
wide corporate policies which describe the standard of conduct required of staff and specific internal 
control systems designed around the particular characteristics of various Bank activities.

Compliance with corporate policies and departmental control systems are managed by:

	� Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization of 
transactions

	� Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions

	� Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements

	� Documentation of controls and procedures

	� Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of the 
controls and procedures to assess the risks identified

	� Development and periodic testing of contingency plans

	� Training and professional development

	� Ethical and business standards

	� Risk mitigation, including insurance where it is effective

	� A structured induction program for new employees.

Compliance with the Bank’s standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by the 
Internal Audit Department. The results of the internal audit reviews are discussed with the management 
of the department to which they relate, and summaries are submitted to the Board’s Audit Committee 
and Executive Risk Management Committee of the Bank.

8.	 Financial risk management  (cont’d)
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9.	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)	 Impairment of financial assets

The measurement of the allowances for expected credit loss (ECL) allowance for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) is an 
area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic 
conditions and credit behaviour losses). A number of significant judgements are required in applying 
the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:
- Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
- Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of 
product/market and the associated ECL; and

Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is further 
detailed in note 8.1.

(b)	 Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Company’s financial statements require measurement 
at, and/or disclosure of, fair value. The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities utilises market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs 
used in determining fair value measurements are categorised into different levels based on how 
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’) (See 
note 8.5)

(c)	 Expected credit losses on loans and advances

The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment on an annual basis. In determining whether 
an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of profit or loss, the Bank makes judgement 
as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an 
individual loan in that portfolio.  Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience 
for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in 
the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. Guidelines issued by the Eastern Caribbean 
Central Bank on methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing 
of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and 
actual loss experience.
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(d)	 Income taxes/Deferred taxes

Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions 
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course 
of business. The Bank recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from 
the amount that were initially recorded, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(e)	 Revaluation of land and buildings

The Bank utilises professional valuators to determine the fair value of its properties.  Valuations 
are determined through the application of a variety of different valuation methods which are all 
sensitive to the underlying assumptions chosen.

(f)	 Impairment of intangible assets

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is dependent upon management’s 
internal assessment of future cashflows from the intangibles. That internal assessment determines 
the amount recoverable from the future use of the asset. The estimate of the amount recoverable 
from future use of this asset is sensitive to discount rates and other assumptions used (See note 15).

10.	 Cash and balances with Central Bank and other banks

2024
$

2023
$

Cash on hand 36,497,988 29,302,112

Amounts due from banks 189,618,708 133,184,305

Interest bearing deposits 224,465,875 40,423,615

Balances with ECCB other than mandatory reserve deposits 73,329,892 254,898,708

Cash and cash equivalents 523,912,463 457,808,740

Mandatory reserve deposits with ECCB 119,268,290 92,672,960

ECCB ACH collateral 25,151,173 35,192,144

Deposits pledged with other institutions 2,606,103 2,606,103

670,938,029 588,279,947

9.	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements  (cont’d)
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Reserve deposit
Statutory reserve deposits with the ECCB represent the Bank’s regulatory requirement to maintain a 
minimum percentage of 6% on deposits liabilities as cash in vault and or deposits with the ECCB in 
accordance with Article 33 of the ECCB Agreement of 1983. As at balance sheet date, the minimum 
reserves requirement was $154,978K (2023: $120,673K).

Mandatory reserve deposits are not available for use in the Banking institutions’ day-to-day operations. 
These balances with the ECCB are non-interest bearing.

Interest bearing deposits
Interest bearing deposits consist of cash and cash equivalents with non-bank financial institutions and 
deposits with other banks with less than 90 days to maturity.

Deposits pledged with other institutions
Deposits pledged with other institutions are non-interest bearing and represent cash placed as security 
to facilitate the Bank’s card services.

11.	 Loans and advances to customers

2024
$

2023
$

Mortgages 859,078,193 739,152,592

Demand loans 123,255,468 90,931,936

Overdrafts 47,188,846 38,892,628

Credit cards 11,803,932 8,932,833

1,041,326,439 877,909,989

Interest receivable 8,848,954 8,298,858

1,050,175,393 886,208,847

Less: allowance for expected loss (Note 11.2) (35,751,251) (29,381,151)

1,014,424,142 856,827,696

2024
$000’s

2023
$000’s

Due within one year 159,708 127,565

Due after one year 854,716 729,263

1,014,424 856,828

The effective interest yield during the year on loans and advances: 5.98% (2023: 5.59%).

10.	 Cash and balances with Central Bank and other banks  (cont’d)
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11.1	 Sectoral analysis

2024
$000’s

2024
%

2023
$000’s

2023
%

Agriculture, Forestry & Fishing 17,644 1.68 15,582 1.76

Manufacturing 26,211 2.50 25,749 2.91

Electricity, Gas, Steam and Air Conditioning 19,994 1.90 10,585 1.19

Water Supply, Sewerage and Waste Management 1,010 0.10 949 0.11

Construction and Land Development 312,693 29.78 294,204 33.20

Wholesale and Retail Trade, Repair of Motor Veh. 66,003 6.28 68,853 7.77

Transport and Storage 77,021 7.33 69,227 7.81

Accommodation and Food Service Activities 35,769 3.41 26,367 2.98

Information and Communication 4,245 0.40 4,097 0.46

Financial Intermediation 6,396 0.61 8,449 0.95

Real Estate Activities 229,710 21.87 179,127 20.21

Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 9,936 0.95 8,965 1.01

Administrative and Support Service Activities 2,654 0.25 2,474 0.28

Public Administration 4,388 0.42 - -

Education 10,611 1.01 10,377 1.17

Human Health and Social Work Activities 4,819 0.46 4,517 0.51

Arts, Entertainment and Recreation 27,703 2.64 1,797 0.20

Other Service Activities 39,929 3.80 18,772 2.12

Private Households 153,439 14.61 136,118 15.36

1,050,175 100 886,209 100

Less: allowance for impaired loans and advances
(Note 8.1.2) (35,751) (29,381)

1,014,424 100.00 856,828 100.00

11.	 Loans and advances to customers  (cont’d)
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11.2	 Loans and advances impairment analysis

2024
$

2023
$

Stage 1 – 12 months ECL - performing 16,606,153 24,723,323

Stage 2 – Lifetime ECL – performing 3,186,497 2,200,983

Stage 3 – Lifetime ECL – credit impaired 15,958,601 2,456,845

35,751,251 29,381,151

11.3	 Loans and advances impairment analysis

Movement in allowance for loan losses is as follows:

2024
$

2023
$

Balance beginning of year 29,381,151 17,499,270

Bad debts written-off (1,718,439) (1,263,481)

Provision on loans acquired through business combination - 9,580,787

Increase in allowance (Note 27) 8,088,539 3,564,575

Balance end of year 35,751,251 29,381,151

11.	 Loans and advances to customers  (cont’d)



C
o-

op
 B

an
k

99
Banking on a Bright Future

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

The following is a sectoral analysis of the composition of the allowance for loan losses:

2024
$000

2024
%

2023
$000

2023
%

Agriculture, Forestry & Fishing 440 1.23 370 1.26

Manufacturing 737 2.06 1,020 3.47

Electricity, Gas, Steam and Air Conditioning 712 1.99 84 0.29

Water Supply, Sewerage and Waste Management 10 0.03 7 0.02

Construction and Land Development 8,616 24.10 5,296 18.03

Wholesale and Retail Trade, Repair of Motor Veh. 2,950 8.25 2,385 8.12

Transport and Storage 2,673 7.48 3,508 11.94

Accommodation and Food Service Activities 1,474 4.12 823 2.80

Information and Communication 527 1.48 93 0.32

Financial Intermediation 5 0.01 148 0.50

Real Estate Activities 5,087 14.23 3,018 10.27

Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 781 2.18 453 1.54

Public Administration and Social Security 97 0.27 112 0.38

Administrative and Support Service Activities 148 0.41 - -

Education 463 1.30 303 1.03

Human Health and Social Work Activities 49 0.14 28 0.10

Arts, Entertainment and Recreation 744 2.08 61 0.21

Other Service Activities 2,058 5.76 597 2.03

Private Households 8,180 22.88 5,704 19.41

General Provisioning - 0.00 5,371 18.28

35,751 100.00 29,381 100.00

11.	 Loans and advances to customers  (cont’d)
11.3	 Loans and advances impairment analysis  (cont’d)
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12.	 Investment securities
The Bank holds the following financial instruments:

At September 30, 2024

Instruments at
amortized cost

$

Fair value
through OCI

$

Total

$

Quoted equity securities - 40,942,176 40,942,176

Unquoted equity securities - 2,443,696 2,443,696

Government debt securities 391,284,952 3,247,702 394,532,654

Other debt securities

Financial institutions 277,942,118 303,039,699 580,981,817

Nonfinancial institutions 12,684,367 - 12,684,367

681,911,437 349,673,273 1,031,584,710

Interest receivable 7,454,136 - 7,454,136

Expected credit loss (5,443,086) (314,370) (5,757,456)

683,922,487 349,358,903 1,033,281,390

At September 30, 2023

Instruments at
amortized cost

$

Fair value
through OCI

$

Total

$

Quoted equity securities - 33,182,737 33,182,737

Unquoted equity securities - 1,288,936 1,288,936

Government debt securities 80,537,130 3,179,738 83,716,868

Other debt securities

Financial institutions 182,335,658 311,578,948 493,914,606

Nonfinancial institutions 13,139,618 - 13,139,618

276,012,406 349,230,359 625,242,765

Interest receivable 3,550,817 - 3,550,817

Expected credit loss (3,741,390) (61,150) (3,802,540)

275,821,833 349,169,209 624,991,042

The weighted average effective interest rate on investment securities at 30 September 2024 was 4% 
(2023: 3%).
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12.1	 Investments subject to impairment assessment

2024
$

2023
$

Exposure at default 995,652,674 594,321,909

ECL (5,757,456) (3,802,540)

Net exposure at default 989,895,218 590,519,369

12.2	 Expected credit loss allowance

2024
$

2023
$

Stage 1 – 12 months ECL - performing 4,595,499 2,695,778

Stage 2 – Lifetime ECL – performing 1,161,957 1,106,762

Stage 3 – Lifetime ECL – credit impaired - -

5,757,456 3,802,540

12.3	 Expected credit loss allowance

2024
$

2023
$

ECL allowance as at October 1, 2023 3,802,540 2,734,528

Increase in allowance (Note 27) 1,954,916 1,068,012

ECL allowance as at September 30, 2024 5,757,456 3,802,540

12.4	 Gains recognized in other comprehensive income

2024
$

2023
$

Unrealized gains on investment instruments 25,993,503 6,048,502

Realized gains on equity instruments - -

25,993,503 6,048,502

13.	 Other assets and prepayments

2024
$

2023
$

Receivables from other financial institutions 57,859,015 50,770,209

Other assets 6,291,395 18,633,721

Prepayments 3,211,815 1,723,758

67,362,225 71,127,688

12.	 Investment securities  (cont’d)
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The Bank’s freehold land and buildings were revalued on an open market basis on September 27, 2022, 
by Barry’s Engineering Company Limited, an independent valuator. On September 20, 2023, the Bank 
revalued the property acquired through business combination of CIBC FCIB banking operation in Grenada 
on an open market basis by Barry’s Engineering Company Limited. The fair value of the land and buildings 
were determined using level 3 fair value measurement. The surplus arising on revaluation was accounted 
for as part of the business combination (See note 34). The directors have determined that the estimated 
market value of the properties at the reporting date are not materially different from their carrying value.

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in measuring the fair value of Freehold 
Land and Building as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Valuation technique Significant unobservable 
inputs

Inter-relationships 
between key 
unobservable inputs 
and fair value 
measurement

Market comparable approach:
The approach relies heavily upon the principle of 
substitution. Recent sales of similar properties are 
gathered, and a meaningful unit of comparison is 
developed.

A comparative analysis of the subject is done, involving 
consideration for differences in location, time, terms 
of sales and physical characteristics.

	� Sales of similar 
properties

The estimated fair value 
would increase/(decrease) 
if:

	� Sales prices of 
similar properties 
were higher/ (lower)

14.	 Property and equipment  (cont’d)
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15.	 Intangible assets

Note Goodwill
$

Core deposit
Intangibles

$
Total

$

As at September 30, 2024

Cost 2,745,534 6,800,000 9,545,534

Impairment (2,745,534) - (2,745,534)

Accumulated amortization 28 - (894,737) (894,737)

Closing net book amount - 5,905,263 5,905,263

Year ended September 30, 2023

Cost 2,745,534 6,800,000 9,545,534

Amortization - - -

Closing net book amount 2,745,534 6,800,000 9,545,534

Goodwill and impairment
The Bank is required to test, on an annual basis, whether goodwill has suffered any impairment.  The 
recoverable amount is determined based on value in use calculations. The use of this method requires 
the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of a discount rate in order to calculate the 
present value of the cash flows.

During the year, an impairment to goodwill of $2,745,534 (2023: Nil) was recognised. While the goodwill 
impairment test indicates that goodwill is not currently impaired, based on current projections, management 
forecasts, and declining performance metrics through September 2027, goodwill impairment is expected 
in the short term. Therefore, management opted to take an accelerated impairment in the current year. 
The (pre-tax) discount rate used to measure the Cash Generating Unit’s (CGU)’s value in use was 16.5%.

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units (CGUs) as follows:

Goodwill carrying amount

2024
$’000

2023
$’000

Opening balance 2,746 -

Acquired through business combination - 2,746

Impairment (2,746) 2,746

Carrying value - 2,746
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The recoverable amounts of all the above CGUs have been determined from value in use calculations 
based on cash flow projections from formally approved budgets covering a three year period to 30 
September 2027. Other major assumptions are as follows:

2024
%

2023
%

Discount rate 16.5 -

Operating margin 2.1 -

Growth rate 3.1 -

The growth rate and operating margin assumptions applies only to the period beyond the formal budgeted 
period with the value in use calculation based on an extrapolation of the budgeted cash flows for year 
three.

Operating margins have been based on past experience and future expectations in the light of anticipated 
economic and market conditions. Discount rates are based on the Bank’s beta adjusted to reflect 
management’s assessment of specific risks related to the cash generating unit.  Growth rates beyond 
the first three years are based on economic data pertaining to country of operations.

16.	 Deferred tax asset
Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences, under the liability method using 
the statutory tax rate of 28% (2023: 28%), which is expected to be in force in the upcoming financial year.

As of reporting date, deferred tax asset/(liability) comprises of temporary differences attributable to:

2024
$

2023
$

Taxed provisions 450,514 673,605

Temporary differences on capital assets (219,626) (315,405)

230,888 358,200

This balance includes the following:

2024
$

2023
$

Deferred tax asset to be recovered/paid after more than 12 months 230,888 358,200

15.	 Intangible assets (cont’d)
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The gross movement on the deferred income tax asset is as follows:

2024
$

2023
$

Balance at beginning of year 358,200 157,130

Income statement (charge)/release (Note 29) (127,312) 201,070

Balance at end of year 230,888 358,200

17.	 Deposits from customers

2024
$

2023
$

Savings 945,567,550 893,701,153

Fixed deposit 95,364,366 97,732,078

Chequing accounts 156,749,160 162,142,961

Current accounts 1,407,670,442 874,054,733

2,605,351,518 2,027,630,925

Interest payable 231,256 232,551

2,605,582,774 2,027,863,476

The weighted average effective interest rate of deposits from customers at September 30, 2024 was 
0.76% (2023: 0.63%).

18.	 Subordinated debt
In July 2023, the Bank entered into subordinated debt agreements totalling $50 million with various financial 
institutions to meet the regulatory capital requirement for acquiring the FirstCaribbean International 
Bank (Barbados) Limited – Grenada Branch. These institutions include:

(a)	 Bank of Saint Lucia Limited

(b)	 Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited

(c)	 1st National Bank of St. Lucia Limited

(d)	 National Bank of Dominica Ltd

(e)	 National Insurance Board of Grenada

16.	 Deferred tax asset (cont’d)
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The subordinated debt has a term of up to 10 years, with an average interest rate of 6.8%. Interest 
payments only are required for the first five years, followed by blended payments of interest and principal 
until maturity.

19.	 Trade and other liabilities

2024
$

2023
$

Trade and other payables 18,547,894 14,318,179

Lease liabilities (Note 19.1) 1,530,197 2,486,537

ECL provision on undrawn loans commitments 504,733 504,733

20,582,824 17,309,449

19.1	 Lease liabilities

2024
$

2023
$

As of October 1, 2023 2,486,537 3,436,679

Interest expense 16,217 22,414

Lease payments (972,557) (972,556)

As of September 30, 2024 1,530,197 2,486,537

20.	 (a) Stated capital

2024
$

2023
$

Authorized capital
Unlimited ordinary voting shares with no par value Unlimited Unlimited

Issued capital
7,600,000 ordinary voting shares with no par value 24,871,739 24,871,739

Less: Treasury shares (3,200 shares) (28,416) (28,416)

24,843,323 24,843,323

18.	 Subordinated debt (cont’d)
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20.	 (b) Dividend
The following dividends were recognised as distributions to owners during the year:

2024
$

2023
$

Ordinary shares: dividend per share: $0.43 (2023: $nil) 3,266,624 -

After the reporting date, the following dividends were proposed by the Board of Directors. Dividends are 
not recognised as liabilities and therefore, there are no tax consequences.

2024
$

2023
$

Ordinary shares: dividend per share: $0.50 (2023: $0.43) 3,798,400 3,266,624

21.	 Statutory reserve

Movement in statutory reserve 2024
$

2023
$

Statutory reserve – beginning of year 23,593,616 19,222,971

Amount appropriated in current year 1,278,123 4,370,645

Statutory reserve – end of year 24,871,739 23,593,616

The Banking Act of 2015 under Sub-section 45 (1) requires that a minimum of 20% of net after tax profits 
in each year be transferred to a Reserve Fund until the balance of this fund is equal to the issued Share 
Capital. The reserve is not available for distribution as dividends or any form of appropriation.

22.	 Accumulative other comprehensive income

Property
revaluation

surplus
$

Net Un-
realized

gains/losses
$

Total
$

Balance at October 1, 2022 24,027,066 (15,751,442) 8,275,624

Increase in fair value investment securities, net of tax - 6,048,502 6,048,502

Balance at September 30, 2023 24,027,066 (9,702,940) 14,324,126

Increase in fair value investment securities, net of tax - 25,993,503 25,993,503

Balance at September 30, 2024 24,027,066 16,290,563 40,317,629
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23.	 Other reserves
During the year, the Bank appropriated $811,039 (2023: $546,331) to other reserves. The following 
summarises the movement on other reserves.

Regulatory
Loss

Reserves
$

Other
General

Reserves
$

Total
$

Balance at October 1, 2022 - 1,814,226 1,814,226

Transfer to general reserves - 546,331 546,331

Balance at September 30, 2023 - 2,360,557 2,360,557

Transfer to general reserves - 811,039 811,039

Balance at September 30, 2024 - 3,171,596 3,171,596

24.	 Interest income

2024
$

2023
$

Income from loans and advances to customers 57,346,845 42,553,862

Income from deposits with other banks 134,396 73,386

57,481,241 42,627,248

25.	 Interest expense

2024
$

2023
$

Saving deposits 13,652,630 9,790,248

Other time deposits 486,628 467,525

Chequing accounts 8,328 1,857

Subordinated debt 3,399,288 791,404

Lease liability 16,217 22,414

17,563,091 11,073,448
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26.	 Other operating income

2024
$

2023
$

Commissions and fees 56,479,361 39,439,748

Miscellaneous 4,631,797 3,331,148

Investment income (Note 26.1) 39,995,016 18,945,939

101,106,174 61,716,835

26.1	 Investment income

2024
$

2023
$

Interest income 38,131,832 17,957,317

Dividend income 1,592,825 1,127,473

Gain/(Loss) realised on sale of debt securities 270,359 (138,851)

39,995,016 18,945,939

27.	 Impairment charge for credit losses

2024
$

2023
$

Loans and advances to customers 8,088,539 3,564,575

Investment securities 1,954,916 1,068,012

10,043,455 4,632,587
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28.	 Operating expenses
The following summarises operating expenses by nature:

2024
$

2023
$

Staff Costs

Wages, salaries and NIS 32,697,591 18,792,100

Other staff costs 2,971,723 2,574,383

35,669,314 21,366,483

Other operating expenses 31,024,985 21,665,733

Depreciation & Amortization 4,977,312 5,066,849

Intangible asset amortization 894,737 -

Operating lease rentals 17,629 55,393

Advertising and promotion 2,741,306 1,891,521

Audit fee 186,472 145,000

Directors’ fee 394,882 333,527

Professional fees 2,887,403 3,825,839

Utilities 2,400,206 2,326,450

Repairs and maintenance 3,015,208 2,783,320

84,209,454 59,460,115

As of reporting date, the Bank’s staff complement included 276 (2023: 267) full time employees.

29.	 Income tax expense

2024
$

2023
$

Current tax 11,457,026 7,525,779

Deferred tax (Note 16) 127,312 (201,070)

11,584,338 7,324,709
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Deferred tax charge/(release) for the year comprises:

2024
$

2023
$

Temporary differences on provisions 223,091 (70,427)

Temporary differences on capital assets (95,779) (130,643)

127,312 (201,070)

The income tax charge differs from the amount computed by applying the tax statutes income tax rate, 28% 
(2023: 28%), to earnings before tax. The differences in the effective rate of tax are accounted as follows:

2024
%

2024
$

2023
%

2023
$

Profit before income tax 44,025,881 29,177,933

Tax calculated at the statutory rate 28% 28.00 12,327,247 28.00 8,169,821

Income not subject to taxation (3.39) (1,492,328) 4.53) (1,321,577)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.08 34,828 0.37 106,506

Depreciation on items not eligible for capital 
allowances 1.74 764,288 2.46 719,951

Allowance claimed (excess)/ under of capital 
asset eligible 0.40) (177,009) (0.51) (148,922)

Recognition/derecognition of temporary 
difference 0.29 127,312 (0.69) (201,070)

Total 26.32 11,584,338 25.10 7,324,709

30.	 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the 
Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2024
$

2023
$

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 32,441,543 21,853,224

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 7,596,800 7,596,800

4.27 2.88

The Bank has no ordinary shares issued and outstanding which potentially would give rise to a dilution of 
the basic earnings per share. Therefore, diluted earnings per share would be the same as basic earnings 
per share.

29.	 Income tax expense (cont’d)
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31.	 Contingencies and commitments
(a)	 Legal proceedings

As of reporting date, there were seven (7) legal proceedings outstanding against the Bank. Based 
on Counsel’s advise it is unlikely that the rulings will be unfavourable to the Bank. Consequently, no 
provision for damages has been recognized as of the reporting date. However, should any of the 
matters be resolved unfavourably, any resulting damages will be charged to profit or loss at that time.

(b)	 Undrawn loan commitments, guarantees and other financial facilities

As of reporting date, the Bank had contractual amounts of off-statement of financial position financial 
instruments that commit it to extend credit to customers, guarantees and other facilities as follows:

2024
$

2023
$

Undrawn loan commitments 146,414,788 129,369,226

Guarantees and standby letters of credit 11,755,444 10,470,833

158,170,232 139,840,059

(c)	 Leasehold commitments

As of reporting date, the Bank was committed to annual leasehold payments as follows:

2024
$

2023
$

Under 1 year 849,670 1,002,002

1 to 5 years 933,095 2,502,690

1,782,765 3,504,692

32.	 Pension scheme
The Bank maintains a Defined Contribution Pension Plan into which the employer contributes 6.5% and 
employee contributes 5% of basic salary. The Bank’s contribution to the Plan in 2024 was $1,284,547 
(2023: $930,962).



C
o-

op
 B

an
k

114
Banking on a Bright Future

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

33.	 Related party transactions
In the ordinary course of business, a number of banking transactions were conducted with related parties. 
These include loans and deposits provided to key management personnel, in accordance to the approved 
staff lending and deposit guidelines regarding rates.

The following summarises transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with related parties:

2024
$

2023
$

Loans and advances
Directors and key management personnel (and their families) 7,052,130 6,865,303

Deposits and other liabilities
Directors and key management personnel (and their families) 3,050,740 2,249,977

Interest income
Directors and key management personnel (and their families) 133,139 147,520

Interest expenses
Directors and key management personnel (and their families) 15,412 11,857

The Bank made $131,172 (2023: $125,836) allowance for bad or doubtful debts in respect of related party 
loans and advances.

2024
$

2023
$

Key management compensation
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 3,223,501 2,368,468

Directors’ fees and expenses 394,882 333,527

34.	 Business combination
On 17 July 2023 the Bank acquired the assets and assumed the liabilities of FirstCaribbean International 
Bank (Barbados) Limited – Grenada Branch (“FCIB Grenada”). The principal reasons for this acquisition 
were to secure additional market share, increase revenue, and to achieve greater economies of scale. 
Valuation of acquired tangible and intangible assets were finalized in the prior year.

Details of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, purchase consideration, and goodwill 
are as follows:

2023
$’000

Purchase consideration – net cash paid 2,460

Fair value of net identifiable assets 286

Goodwill 2,746

The purchase consideration used to settle the transaction was cash.
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For the year ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Net assets

Book Value
2023
$’000

Adjustment 
2023
$’000

Fair Value  
2023
$’000

Property and equipment 5,916 4,397 10,313

Loans and advances to customers 153,788 221 154,009

Cash 210,885 - 210,885

Core deposit intangibles - 6,800 6,800

Deposits from customers (382,293) - (382,293)

(11,704) 11,418 (286)

The main factors leading to the recognition of goodwill are the presence of certain intangible assets, such 
as core deposit intangibles, which do not qualify for separate recognition and material cost savings which 
result in the Bank being prepared to pay a premium.

This goodwill recognized will not be deductible for tax purposes.

35.	 Reclassification of prior year presentation
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. 
Those reclassifications have no effect on the reported results of operation.

34.	 Business combination (cont’d)
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Head Office:
No. 8 Church Street
St. George
P.O. Box 135
Tel: (473) 440-2111/444-2667
Fax: (473) 440-6600
Website: www.grenadaco-opbank.com
E-mail: info@grenadaco-opbank.com

Managing Director

Chief Experience Officer 

Executive Manager, Finance and Wealth Management 
& Financial Services 

Corporate Secretary/Executive Manager, Legal

Chief Audit Executive

Executive Manager, Operations & Administration

Executive Manager, Sales & Service

Officer-in-Charge, Credit Administration

Executive Manager, Risk

Executive Manager, Compliance

Executive Manager, Human Resources

Executive Manager, Information Technology

Manager, Recoveries & Collections

Senior Manager, Human Resources

Manager, Business Banking

Senior Manager, Risk (Credit)

Manager, Customer Care

Manager, Strategy

Manager, Finance

Manager, Electronic Services & Retail Operations

Senior Manager, Programme & Strategy

Project Manager

Manager, Information Security

Manager, Compliance

Manager, Marketing & Customer Insight

Marketing & Branding Officer

Manager, Information Technology

Manager, Audit

Operations Manager

L. Lawrence, MBA (Fin)

W. Grainger, CRU, Dip. MA

A. Logie, FCCA, MBA, DBA

T.K. Lambert (Ms.), LL.B, L.E.C, LL.M 

S. Gooding (Ms.), FCCA

F. Dowden, AICB, AML/CA, MBA-IB, CIRCA, CBCS

W.G. Sayers, BBA, Dip, MBA

M. Noel-Gibbs, (Mrs.), BBA (Hons), CCRA

J. Robertson (Mrs.), AICB, CIRM, CRU, MBA, MCIBS,
Exec. Dipl – Banking (UW, GSB)

A. Joseph (Mrs.), BSc, CGA, CPA, AICB, AML/CA

N. Philip (Ms.), BSc, CCP, MBA

G. Baptiste, BSc, CISSP, CRISC, CCISO

J. Phillip (Mrs.) MSc, BBA, AS, CERT

K. St.Louis-Telesford (Mrs.), BAS, MSc

E. White-Best (Mrs.), AICB, CCP, CRU, MBA

K. Greenidge (Ms.), BSc, MSc

R.D. Duncan, FICB

K. Joseph, C.C.Sec., MBA, KPIP, BSP, BSc

K. Holas

R. Medford, BSc, MSc

C. Phillip-Frank (Mrs.), Exec. Dip. Banking, BSc, MBA, BSP

A. Wilson (Ms.), MBA, BS, PMI

J. Hosten, PCIP, VCA, CDPS, CISM

M. Mc Sween, CRU,AMLCA,CPAML, MBA

E. Hosten, BSc

F. St. Hillaire

S. Slinger, BSc, CISM, VCP

R. Holder, BSc. (Hons), MBA-IB, (CBCA)®, Acc. Dir

C. Belfon, AICB

St. George’s:
No. 14 Church Street
St. George
Tel: (473) 440-2111

Manager, Sales & Service B. Mc Gillivary, AICB, CRU, BSc, Exec. Dip. Banking (GSB)

Spiceland Mall:
Morne Rouge
St. George
Tel: (473) 440-2111

Manager, Sales & Service N. Paul (Ms.), BSc

Grenville:
Victoria Street
Grenville, St. Andrew
Tel: (473) 440-2111

Manager, Sales & Service S. Regis, AICB, BSc

Sauteurs:
Main Street
Sauteurs, St. Patrick
Tel: (473) 440-2111

Manager, Sales & Service R. Fletcher, AICB, MBA, CRU

Carriacou:
Main Street
Hillsborough
Tel: (473) 440-2111

Manager, Sales & Service R. Phillip-Bethel (Mrs.), CRU

Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited 
Offices
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The Corporate Secretary
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited
No. 8 Church Street
St. George’s
Grenada 

I/We _______________________________________________________________ the undersigned, being a shareholder of 
Grenada Co-operative Bank Limited, hereby appoint the Chairman, Mr. Darryl Brathwaite of St. George, 
Grenada, or failing him,

_______________________________________________ of ____________________________________________________  as my/our 
proxy to attend and act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual Meeting of the shareholders of 
the said company to be held on the 30th day of January, 2025, at 4:45p.m. at The Grenada Trade Centre 
Annex, Morne Rouge, St. George; and at any adjournment or adjournments thereof in the same manner, 
to the same extent and with the same powers as if the undersigned were present at the said meeting or 
such adjournment or adjournments thereof.

Dated this ____________________________  day of  ___________________________  202 __________

Signature(s) of Shareholder(s)	            __________________________________________________

Signature(s) of Shareholder(s)	            __________________________________________________

Name(s) in Block Letters		            __________________________________________________

Notes:

1.	 Votes at meetings of shareholders may be given either personally or by proxy, or in case of a shareholder 
who is a body corporate or association, by an individual authorized by a resolution of the directors or 
governing body of that body corporate or association to represent it at meetings of shareholders of 
the company.

2.	 A person appointed by proxy need not be a shareholder.

3.	 To be valid, a proxy form duly completed must be deposited with the Corporate Secretary at the Registered 
Office of the Company, No. 8 Church Street, St. George’s, at least 48 hours before the time appointed 
for the meeting or adjourned meeting.

GRENADA CO-OPERATIVE BANK LIMITED

FORM OF PROXY





No. 8, Church Street, St. George’s, Grenada, W.I.
Tel: (473) 440-2111
Fax: (473) 440-6600
Email: info@grenadaco-opbank.com
feedback@grenadaco-opbank.com

Website: www.grenadaco-opbank.com
Facebook: GrenadaCoopBank
IG: grenadaco_opbank
Twitter: GdaCo_opBank
Whatsapp: 457-COOP (2667)
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